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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Financial Results and Business Review

| would like to report the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022. During the year, the Group recorded a profit from operations
before valuation changes in investment properties of HK$177.7 million
(2021: HK$316.2 million) and a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$1,120.8 million (2021: HK$1,525.5 million). The loss was mainly due to
the valuation losses on investment properties of HK$1,266.5 million (2021:
HK$1,788.0 million) which outweigh the profit from operations. The valuation
losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows
of the Group. Details of the financial results and business performance and

development are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 65 to 80.

Dividends

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.21 per share for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$0.19 per share). As the Company
paid an interim dividend of HK$0.19 per share during the year (2021: HK$0.25
per share), the total distribution will be HK$0.40 per share for the year (2021:
HK$0.44 per share).

Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting of members of the Company will be held on Friday,
9 September 2022.

Acknowledgement
Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to thank all our staff for their devotion and
dedication, and would like to thank our professional advisors and our members

for their support in the past year.

Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Properties

E LA

ISQUARE

iISQUARE is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui at the intersection of Nathan
Road and Peking Road. It is the first one-stop shopping and entertainment
complex linked to Tsim Sha Tsui MTR station. This complex provides 56,000
square metres of space comprising a shopping podium, cinema box and

tower.

The podium is a vibrant hub for world-class fashion and lifestyle brands,
complemented by five grand cineplexes, including a 458-seat digital IMAX
theatre. ISQUARE also features fine-dining restaurants and lifestyle services in

its iconic tower.
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Corporate Governance Report

SREARE

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company recognises responsibilities to its shareholders and is therefore
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. To
accomplish this, the Company has reviewed its practices and procedure, and

identified and formalised appropriate measures and policies.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing

Rules”), except for the deviations as disclosed hereunder:

Code Provision C.1.8: Appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged

Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for legal action against
its Directors. After taking into account the business nature and operational
complexity and diversity of the Group, as well as the close supervision of and
prudent approach adopted by the management, the Board believes that the
Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation in their capacity as
Directors is relatively low. Benefits to be derived from taking out insurance may
not outweigh the cost. Despite it, every Director is, subject to the provisions of
the applicable laws, indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant
to the Articles of Association of the Company. In view of the above, the Board

considers that the Directors’ exposure to risk is manageable.

Code Provision C.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and performed by two
individuals

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong is both the Chairman and chief executive of the
Company. To avoid concentration of power and authority in any one individual,
day-to-day management of the Company’s business is shared by Executive
Directors whilst formulation of objectives and strategic decisions are collectively
made by the Board. In addition, the Board comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”) with differing expertise/calibre who can provide a
“check and balance” effect on the management through their high attendance
at board meetings and active roles in board committees whereby ensuring a
balance of power. Given consideration to the aforesaid, the Board of Directors
is of the view that the current structure does not have any adverse effect on
the Company and believes that this structure enables the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently on the one hand while achieving

an equilibrium of power on the other.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Code Provision C.6.3: The company secretary should

report to the board chairman and/or the chief executive
Instead of reporting to the Chairman (who is also the chief executive of the
Company), the company secretary reports directly to the Deputy Chairman.
Since the company secretary is located in the same office as the Deputy
Chairman and they work closely on a day-to-day basis, direct reporting to
the Deputy Chairman can provide for a prompt and timely response to issues
which require immediate attention. On the other hand, the Chairman keeps
having ongoing discussion and dialogue with the Deputy Chairman on business
affairs, in particular corporate governance and financial issues, which enables
him to fully understand the operation of the Company and manage it in an
effective manner. Taking into account of the above, the Board considers that

the current reporting line is apposite to the Company.

Code Provision D.2.5: Issuer should have an internal
audit function and review the need for one in case of its
absence annually

At present, the Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board
reviewed the need for setting up one in March 2022 and considered that
there was no such an immediate need after taking into account the Group’s
current circumstances, such as the focused nature and geographical spread
of business, the relatively simple operating structure and small size of the
Group and the close involvement and supervision of the management in
daily operation, which could provide sufficient risk management and internal
control for the Group. Despite it, the Board has taken initiatives to promote
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems by creating a control environment across the Group (such as building
up a corporate culture based on sound business ethics and accountability
through the implementation of whistleblowing arrangements and procedure
manuals with defined roles, responsibilities and reporting lines) and putting
control activities in place (such as conducting group-wide risk assessment
exercise biannually). In addition, where the external auditor of the Company
considers any internal controls that are relevant to the audit of the financial
statements, it will report to the audit committee any significant deficiencies in

internal control identified during the audit.

In view of the above considerations, together with the review result on the
effectiveness of the existing control mechanism and the potential cost to be
involved, the Board is of the opinion that it is not cost effective to set up and
maintain an internal audit function for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board

will review the need for one on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Code Provision E.1.5: Remuneration details of senior
management should be disclosed by band in annual
reports

The remuneration details of the senior management are not disclosed by band
in the annual report. To ensure they are remunerated at a reasonable but not
excessive rate, none of them is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration
or related to the remuneration committee members (who are all INEDs and
authorised to collectively determine the remuneration of the senior management
based on a number of factors set out in the Company’s remuneration policy).
The Directors consider that the non-disclosure does not pose any negative
impact on the Company. On the contrary, the disclosure of the remuneration
details of the senior management may cause undue comparison among staff
members, and would unnecessarily provide highly sensitive and confidential
information to competitors and other third parties looking to recruit the senior
management. In light of the above, the Directors are of the view that the
disclosure of such information would neither provide pertinent information in
furtherance of corporate governance, nor be in the interests of the members of

the Company.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2022

comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman)

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi

Mr Cheong Sim Lam

Miss Cheong Chong Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Mr Wong Yiu Tak

Mr Lee Chung

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (who is both the Chairman and chief executive of the
Company), Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong
Sim Lam are brothers. Miss Cheong Chong Ling is the daughter of Mr Cheong
Kheng Lim and the niece of Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Keng Hooi
and Cheong Sim Lam. Some of the Directors who are members of the Cheong

family together own businesses outside the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Under the corporate governance structure, the Board of Directors is as a
whole accountable to the shareholders of the Company in respect of the
Group’s performance. The Board of Directors is responsible for the leadership
and control of the Group, which include formulation of objectives, overall
strategies and business plans; and overseeing the financial and management
performance, corporate governance, environmental, social and governance

issues, risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a true
and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 on a going concern basis, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently with
those applied to the financial statements of the previous financial year. The

Directors have also made judgements and estimates which are reasonable.

In addition, the Directors of the Company are accountable for keeping proper
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group. The statement of the Auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 84 to 90.

With the objective of focusing more attentively on specific areas, the Board
has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the audit committee. INEDs are invited to serve on
these Board committees given the benefits they can bring to the Company. To
assist the committees in discharging their roles adequately, each committee
is provided with a committee policy, setting out guidelines for its members
to follow in the process of decision-making. Duties and authorities of these
committees are also set out in their respective terms of reference. To keep the
Board fully informed of their works and findings, these committees are required

to report back to the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

For the purpose of efficient operation, the Board relies on the management
for the day-to-day operation of the Group’s business. The management has
to implement the objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and
report to the Board from time to time. The Board monitors the work of the
management whilst the management provides an indispensable support to
the operation of the Board and the Group’s development. Given the close
collaboration between the Board and the management, the duties, power and
functions of the Board and the management are clearly laid down and defined

in writing.

Delegating its functions and authorities to the Board committees and the
management does not absolve the Board from its overall responsibility for
the governance of the Group. The Board at all times assumes the ultimate

responsibility for the Group’s management and operation.

Directors’ attendance and training

To ensure timely and adequate attention to and due discussion on the Group’s
affairs, the Directors had full attendance at the board meetings (total: six), board
committee meetings and annual general meeting held during the financial year

ended 31 March 2022.

Given the need for the Directors to equip themselves with necessary
knowledge and skills to perform their roles, the Company places an emphasis
on Directors’ training. During the year under review, all Directors were furnished
with memoranda/circulars at intervals so as to refresh their knowledge
relating to Directors’ duties and legal and regulatory obligations. To keep the
Directors abreast of the latest developments regarding regulatory and legal
requirements, the company secretary also provided updates directly or through
other professionals to the Board as and when necessary. During the financial
year ended 31 March 2022, not only did the Company organise in-house
training courses in relation to corporate governance, rules and regulations, and
strategic direction for its Directors at the Company’s expense, it also provided
them with e-learning materials as composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited which covered topics such as directors’ continuing obligations.
For the purpose of ensuring suitable training is received by the Directors, the
Board conducted a review thereon and is satisfied with the training received
by the Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. Other than the
foregoing, the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant external training
sessions, seminars, forums and conferences on their own with all related

expenses reimbursable by the Company, subject to the Company’s policy.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Individual attendance of the Directors at annual general meeting, board BREENAFEHFRRAFAS EEFSZH
meetings, board committee meetings and training during the year under review EEeE NTEeeR T Za8snT

is set out below:

Remuneration ~ Nomination Audit Annual
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meetings* Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Training*
Ezgey FHZESEEE REZRSSE BUZREEE RRAFAS 3
Covering
corporate
governance- Covering
Directors related matters other matters
PREEER
Bz HEZEE PRAMEE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Cheong Hooi Hong* O O O O
@) 2) (4) B 2) - AC
Cheong Kheng Lim* @) @) @) [ ]
Eit 2) (4) - 2 - (1] AC
Cheong Keng Hooi O O O
EE 2 (a) - - - () AC
Cheong Sim Lam O O O
B4 2 (4) - - - @ e
Cheong Chong Ling O O o
% 2 (4) - - - a A
Independent Non-executive
Directors
BUHHTEE
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul O O O O O (]
AZE (2 4 (3) (2 (4) (1] B.C
Wong Yiu Tak @) @) @) @) @) [
Hie 2 0 3) 2) 3) 0 he
Lee Chung e e e e e ® AC
Pk (2 4 (3) (2) (4) (1]
g;g%%gber of meetings 6 3 2 4 1 _
* Chairman * TR
# Deputy Chairman # BIxE
a Attended in person a HELE
& Attended by phone/video call 8 LB REHRHE
— Not applicable — TEA
" During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, six board meetings, of which four " D RHE—E-o - A=+—RHIFBREE AR
were regular ones, were held. RAABRAREZEER(RPERATESNER) -
M The form in which the Directors received training includes: + EEEZIEINERBIE
A:  Attending courses/seminars/conferences A HERE HEe She
B: Reading materials B: BIEER
C: Receiving briefings from company secretary/other executives/professionals C: MATME HMITIHAE HE¥ A +EEE
)
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
code for dealing in securities in the Company by its Directors (“Model Code”).
Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors of the Company as to whether
they have complied with or whether there has been any non-compliance with
the Model Code, and all Directors have confirmed compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the financial year ended 31 March

2022.

Independent Non-executive Directors

INEDs are appointed for the period commencing from the conclusion of one
annual general meeting to the conclusion of the following annual general
meeting. According to the Company’s Articles of Association, they are required
to retire by rotation, but remain eligible for re-election, at least once every three

years.

The Company has received confirmation from each INED about his
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
each of them to be independent. One of the INEDs possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management

expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

11
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, each with its
written terms of reference. Each committee is required to report back to the
Board and keep the Board fully informed of its decisions and recommendations

unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its ability to do so.

EEEETNEES
FFGCRU=BERE  SRAFMEAT 12
AERGNERZEE - LHEETHES G 0OB
BOE - SZERANEFRESR  LREFFE
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Board of Directors

Exg

(

-

Remuneration Committee

FMEES

Three INEDs:

ZEBVYFHTES

e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
(comm/ttee chairman)

REEE (FEE

e Mr Wong Yiu Tak
HIRELE

e Mr Lee Chung
EX/

EJE)

~
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Nomination Committee

REZES

Two Executive Directors:

MEMITES

e Mr Cheong Hooi Hong
(committee chairman)
BRERE (ZESFE)

e Mr Cheong Kheng Lim
EIRMSEE

Three INEDs:

ZEBVFYITES :

e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
AE gL E

e MrWong Yiu Tak
mIERSESE

* Mr Lee Chung
EX/ e

~
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Audit Committee

EREEE

Three INEDs:

ZEBYFHITES

e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
(committee chairman)

Rk E (FEE

e Mr Wong Yiu Tak
EIRERE

e Mr Lee Chung
£/
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Remuneration committee

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
Directors and senior management of suitable calibre by remunerating them
at a competitive level. In order to achieve this, the Board has established a
remuneration committee. Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no Director
or his/her associates are allowed to be involved in decisions relating to his/her

own remuneration.

FHEEE

R EHMER R B OZUBBENOHHS
AAEARMESNEEERARRE - Al - &
FEERUFMERS - RAREHHBEROH
T AEERHBR AT SRR HHA Y
BISRE ©

Main duties TERS
—  to review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of — RIIZEENRESE - YRESFS/ELH
reference of the committee B

= to assist the Company in formulating remuneration policy and

structure for Directors and senior management

— to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals

— to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration

packages of individual Executive Directors and senior management

— to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
INEDs

— to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the

Group

— to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or

appointment

— to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct

— BPARRENEEERSEEEABNH
BB K288

— R RIUEEEENHMEE

— REEFSEREM BEEBENNTESM
=EEEASNH M

— RESEEZBUIFNTESOZH

— EERBAREOHH - F AR
R B AEMAER B E b AL 10 1 P 16k fF

— RBRIRMERNRTEENSEERAEX
BRI R AR SR I E RIS T AR E

— REARERERTAKEMBRELES
BHESEMSRNRER

Details of the remuneration committee’s authority and duties are set out in the
terms of reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites

of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”).
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Remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior management is
determined, with delegated responsibility, by the remuneration committee
on the recommendations of the chief executive (except Mr Cheong Hooi
Hong whose remuneration package is determined by the remuneration
committee alone) on an annual basis. The remuneration committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the review of INEDs’ remuneration annually.
For all other staff, it is the Executive Directors who fix their remuneration
packages on the recommendations of their respective department heads on an

annual basis.

According to the Group’s remuneration policy, the amount of remuneration
payable to the Directors is determined by reference to a number of factors,
including remuneration paid by comparable companies, the Group’s results
as well as the work-load, responsibility and time commitment of the Directors.
When determining the remuneration packages of senior management and all
other staff, the remuneration committee and Executive Directors, as the case
may be, take(s) into consideration the factors including market conditions, the

Group’s results, individual performance, job nature and duties.

Other than the retirement scheme as set out in note 24 to the financial
statements on page 147, the Group does not have any long-term incentive

scheme.

Summary of works performed during the financial year ended

31 March 2022

ERRTEENDEEBABNTFHETHETENE
Eg(CEZEESHREEM) AL ETHARNER
femEr (EEEREENTHNbETMNEEe 2R
RE) - FNEEETFNERABUIFNTES
BFH - YHZEEERNEESELRE - M8
IOFHRGFHATERCERSAERAILIIEE
EERBET -

REAKE ZHMEEK - ESZHMDOREETE
EMAE  BERABEARMNOEH  AEEE
B EENTEE  BEENSNHORRE - £E8F
=EEEABMEMAE B TOHME - HFHEE
EMATESE(RFER)ZENERARETSMN
Mo REEEE - EARRE - TEEENRE -

BANE R FE147TEN T IERER W 240 R
Hh - REEN R R EAR SRR

RiREHE

REBE-ZE-_—F=F=+—HLHRFENT
fER=

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and the terms of reference of the

committee

= considered and fixed the remuneration packages of the Executive

Directors and senior management

— made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

INEDs

— BARFENFMBERZESNBERE
{EH R RMEESREES

— ZREREERTEENSEE
EA

B ABHF

— BEMBRTEFNHFMAESSFELE

B
—  considered and recommended the Board on the relevance of the — ERCETFAIZEMMET(EREHEES
latest amendments to the CG Code (confining to areas relating to the BESEFBANER) BASENMEEL
committee’s scope of work) WRZEESIELER
Number of meetings held by the committee during the year under review and HTEE @R AFERTEHENNELRZIEZEERK

individual attendance of the remuneration committee members thereat are set

out in the table on page 10.
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Nomination committee
To ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company, the Board has set up a

nomination committee.

Main duties

REEEE

REREKBEBHENREE  KREYEARF]

FTERE

— to review and provide recommendations to the Board on the
nomination policy, terms of reference of the committee and the Board

diversity policy

= to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the

Company’s corporate strategy

— to assess the independence of INEDs

— to assess the mix required on the Board

— to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships

— to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the chief executive, and on the setting of

measurable objectives for implementing the Board diversity policy

— RREABE REGNRERENES
BELEEE  THEFSEHES

— BREEERE  ABRES(BFEREE -
HBANEER) - WAL A AR Z A B
REZEEG R EIkEEH

—  FHREMERITESREMME

— HEFEMFEZEAETIIGE

— YEASEERMALTAEZRENKE I

BREANALRAREEZIHEHREER

EESFLER

— HEFRZEEEHNERME  EFECHII0C

HEETRATHRAE) M ETEEE ST
EBERHIE R AT 8 B RRAEESEHEE

Details of the nomination committee’s authority and duties are set out in the
terms of reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites

of the Company and the HKEX.

For the purpose of providing a clear guidance to the committee members in
executing their jobs, a nomination policy which delineates the procedures and
criteria for nomination of Directors has been laid down. Under the policy, all
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. Any Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall retire at the next annual general meeting whilst
those appointed to fill casual vacancies shall retire at the next general meeting
(instead of the next annual general meeting) and Directors so appointed are
eligible for re-election. The appointment term of the Directors is determined by

the Board.
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Before making recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of a Director, the nomination committee shall according to the
nomination policy consider the present and future needs of the Company
and the new challenges/risks it may encounter, and thereafter determine the
necessary attributes/competencies required for the Director. In considering the
suitability of an individual to become a Director or a Director to be re-appointed,
the nomination committee shall consider whether the person concerned
possesses the specific qualities required by the Company, his/her personal
profile and whether he/she meets the basic criteria as required under applicable
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, such as being able to demonstrate a
standard of competence and having the character, experience and integrity
commensurate with his/her position as a Director. For the appointment/re-
appointment of an INED, the nomination committee shall also take into account

the independence guidelines laid down in the Listing Rules.

KAZEFERZERENZEESFHERR - =
FLZEQARBREBREBAREZ BRI RAR
FEMAEAB 2B AR - NEERETE
EFABNRE Bh -  EZEERALEFES
IRTEFEBNZEZAEEES  BEZEE
AHEABALREEBARRRIMBNRE - HE
ANEERERBNANREBER OEERMRAME
SREBHERNGN - DINGERBRHEABBIEES
MgEN - M - EBRRaK o RE/ENZEBY
FATEFR - REZBENMALTELMRATH
B2 155 o

Diversity

For ensuring there is a balanced composition of the Board, the nomination
committee needs to consider not only one’s attributes/competencies, but
also his/her value to the Company. Board diversity which incorporates
a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, skills,
knowledge and professional experience, is a key consideration in Board
selection process which the nomination committee shall give consideration
to. The Company believes that, with the benefits of diversity, it can have a
better understanding to the needs and expectations of its stakeholders, in
particular shoppers and tenants, whereby enhance its overall performance

and promote the long term interests of its shareholders.

To reflect the above, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy, in
which the nomination committee is required to assess the mix required on as
well as the adequacy of the mix already on the Board; and to recommend
to the Board the measurable objectives for implementing the policy and

any matters in relation to Board diversity or the policy itself.

554 N
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After taken into account a wide range of diversity aspects as well as the
needs of the Company and the environment in which it operates, having
at least one female Director by 31 December 2024 has been set as the
Company’s objective (which has already been accomplished) in achieving
gender diversity at Board level. The Board believes that the Company’s
success is determined by various factors. It is not necessarily in a direct
proportion to the number of Directors of a particular gender. Selection
of female candidates to join the Board is, in part, dependent on the pool
of candidates possessing the qualities required by the Company. Board
appointment is always based on merit and contributions likely brought by
the chosen candidates without focusing on a single diversity aspect, or
it may compromise on the calibre of the Directors. To be in line with the
Company’s development and get well prepared for the possible future
needs, the Board will review the set target and timeline in due course and
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board for gender diversity
purpose by changing the Company’s policies and practices in identifying
suitable Board members with an emphasis on the sufficient presence
of female Directors and broadening the sourcing channels as well as

providing opportunities for potential women to take up managerial roles.

Although the Company is paving the way to facilitate gender balance
across the workforce (including senior management), it does not intend
to fix any gender diversity quota or set a short-term objective thereon
given that the business nature as well as the geographical location of the
Company do not lead to any favouritism on engaging employees of a
particular gender. Gender diversity of the workforce is indeed not a relevant
issue to the Company. As provided in the Company’s employment policy,
staff recruitment is mainly based on the needs of the Company and the
principles laid down therein, such as equal opportunities and “selection
on capability”. Details of gender ratio of the workforce (including senior
management) are set out in the Corporate Social Responsibility Report

headed “Employee profile and engagement” on page 50.
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As regards the nomination procedures for Board members, relevant details
are set out in the nomination policy, which requires the Board (i) on receipt of
recommendations from the nomination committee to form an opinion as to
whether one shall be appointed/re-appointed and (i) to make disclosure as per

the Listing Rules after the same has been approved.

Summary of works performed during the financial year ended
31 March 2022

HEERAR AN B ERRIBEBEEN
PERESS(\EEEREEESNERE oA
BATRGEZT ST TER &)
REBIRE - R ETRBZ R EEL#EE -

RBE-ZE-__F=A=+t—-HLUBFENT
ERE

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the nomination
policy, the terms of reference of the committee and the Board diversity

policy

— considered and recommended the Board on the measurable
objectives in achieving gender diversity at Board level, measures used
to identify potential successors to the Board for diversity purpose and

the necessary mix required on the Board

— put forward recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and

composition of the Board

— assessed the independence of the INEDs

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointments of the

INEDs and Directors who were subject to retirement by rotation

— HARFRNRERBE  ZESNBESE
MEZSZTERRELRIRAESS
fduap e

— ZREREZEFEE@MURZTCMmEIE
WA ERR  EFEMANERS UK
MEREES TN EREEFTEEAR
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— HEFERE  ABLAAREZSRH
et

—  FHREMERITESREMME

— HEFREBLIERTEFNHEREN

Number of meetings held by the committee during the year under review and
individual attendance of the nomination committee members thereat are set

out in the table on page 10.
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Audit committee

With a view to assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
in areas such as financial reporting, internal control and risk management
systems as well as relationship with the auditor, the Company has set up an

audit committee.

Main duties

— to make recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-

appointment and removal of the external auditor

— to approve remuneration, terms of engagement and handle all issues

relating to resignation or dismissal in respect of the external auditor

— to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and

objectivity and the effectiveness of its audit process

— to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit and

reporting obligations before commencement of audit

— to develop and implement policy on engagement of the external

auditor to supply non-audit services

— to oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal

control systems

— to review financial information of the Group

— to review arrangements employees of the Company can use in
confidence to raise concerns about possible improprieties and
ensure proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent

investigation and for follow-up action

— to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s

relations with the external auditor

— to review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of

reference of the committee
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Details of the audit committee’s authority and duties are set out in the terms
of reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites of the

Company and the HKEX.
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Summary of works performed during the financial year ended
31 March 2022

RBE-E-__F=A=+t—-HLUBFENT
ERE

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the

external auditor

— considered and approved the terms of engagement of the external

auditor for provision of audit services

— fixed the external auditor’s remuneration

— reviewed the half-year and annual financial statements of the Group,
including integrity and significant financial reporting judgements

contained therein, before submission to the Board for approval

— discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and determined the scope and extent of the interim review before

commencement

— met the external auditor without the presence of executive board

members of the Company

— considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about improprieties,
the audit policy, the terms of reference of the committee and the risk

management policy

— considered and recommended the Board on the relevance of the
latest amendments to the CG Code (confining to areas relating to
the committee’s scope of work) and on the establishment of the

whistleblowing policy and anti-corruption policy

= reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems by monitoring the risk change during the
year, assessing the adequacy of the mitigating strategies used
and the impact of the identified risks on the Group before making

recommendations to the Board

— evaluated the need of setting up an internal audit function by
considering the current internal control mechanism and the pros and

cons of doing so
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Number of meetings held by the committee during the financial year ended
31 March 2022 and individual attendance of the audit committee members

thereat are set out in the table on page 10.

Associated International Hotels Limited #|5# B BB & B R A 7 20

ENREEENEE T - —F=-A=t+—BILHK
FERBTERNABLELZEENELF R ZA
BHEMNEI10EMFIRA -



Corporate Governance Report 2 ERHE

Corporate governance functions

Given the importance of good corporate governance to the success of
the Company, the Board is directly responsible for performing corporate
governance duties. The duties set out in the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG

Code are included in its terms of reference.

Among the six board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2022, two of which covered issues relating to corporate governance. At the
meetings, the Board adopted a whistleblowing policy and an anti-corruption
policy; updated the general code of conduct for employees and Directors;
monitored the training and continuous professional development received by
Directors and senior management; and reviewed corporate governance policies
and practices including those relating to compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report. Individual attendance of the Directors at the

said two board meetings is set out in the table on page 10.

Risk Management and Internal Control
Responsibility
The Board has an overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems.

To this end, the Board, assisted by the audit committee, oversees the
foregoing systems on an ongoing basis by evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including the environmental, social and
governance-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

Although the said systems are complemented by relevant procedure and
measures for the purpose of safeguarding the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, they are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Key features and process

As risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group
and something more than a formality, it is integrated into the day-to-day
operation and carried out at all levels under the stewardship of the Board. In
order to create a control environment across the Group to support the risk
management and internal control systems, the Company is committed to
building up a corporate culture based on business ethics, control responsibility
and risk awareness. To accomplish this, the Company has adopted a general
code of conduct and an anti-corruption policy to govern the integrity and
ethical behaviour of employees in business practices. A whistleblowing policy
to provide channels and guidance for employees and those who deal with the
Group to report on any suspected irregularities, improprieties, misconduct or
malpractices within the Group is also in place. In addition, procedure manuals
delineating reporting lines and areas of responsibility of each department/
operating unit are laid down and are under review from time to time. All policies,
procedure and guidelines with defined limits of delegated authority are put in

writing so as to enhance effective segregation of duties and controls.

On top of fostering a risk management culture, the Board adopts a bottom-
up approach to identify the Group’s operational risks. Instead of setting
up a separate department charged with the risk-related issues, it gets
all departments/operating units involved. Under the current systems, all
department/unit heads are required to establish risk factors specific to their
responsible areas, determine impact as well as likelihood of identified risks
in accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board and develop mitigating
strategies. They shall maintain a risk register containing the said information
and update it on a regular basis. In order to provide the Board and the audit
committee with an overview of the Group’s operational risks and how they are
managed, the management scrutinises, filters, amends and compiles relevant
information, together with findings of the strategic risk identification performed
by the Executive Directors on behalf of the Board, as a composite risk report
to the Board/the audit committee for review and endorsement every 6 months
unless the circumstances are exceptional which require immediate attention
for discussion. The external auditor also has access to the risk registers and
composite risk reports. During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, such

risk assessment exercise was done on a half-yearly basis.
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In the absence of an internal audit function (reasons for its absence are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” on pages 5 to 7),
the Board has appointed a qualified accountant, who is also the accounting
manager of the Group, to carry out sample testing on procedure compliance
and risk-related issues in respect of all departments/operating units. Test
results and findings are reported to the audit committee on an annual basis.
Heads of the departments/operating units which may have a significant
financial implication on the Group’s revenue are required to make an annual
representation to the audit committee confirming that all potential risks in
relation to their scope of work are properly dealt with. The management will
then review the situation and provide the Board/the audit committee with an
annual confirmation on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems.

Being part of the internal control process, the Group has maintained a
comprehensive accounting system for ensuring complete and accurate financial
information. Annual budgets as regards rental income and operating expenses
of ISQUARE, the Group’s main source of revenue, are prepared for effective
allocation and utilisation of resources. As regards outgoings, the Group has
established procedure for approval and control of operating expenditures whilst
the capital ones are subject to management approval prior to commitment.
Other control measures, including provision of monthly management accounts
to Directors and preparation of variance analyses, help identify deficiencies and

enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Handling of inside information

Concerning inside information, the Company has implemented various policies
to govern how it shall be handled. Policy on disclosure of inside information
sets out the manner in which inside information is escalated and disseminated
whereas the risk management policy provides ways to deal with risks which
may constitute inside information. Besides, the general code of conduct
adopted by the Group prohibits inappropriate use of confidential or inside
information. All employees are required to undertake their adherence to the

said code and report any non-compliance with it to the management.

For the purpose of complying with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
its own code. Relevant procedure for guarding against mishandling of inside
information includes pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities by
designated Directors and notification of black-out period to Directors. In order
to remind Directors and employees of their obligations in securities transaction,

they are provided with memoranda at intervals.
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Review of effectiveness

Although the management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal control systems,
the Board and the audit committee oversee the process. In March 2022, the
Board, with the confirmation from the management certifying that the aforesaid
systems were functioning effectively and the assistance of the audit committee,
conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems under Code Provision D.2.1 of the CG Code for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022. Such review is conducted annually and
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Based on the review result, the Board considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting, were adequate and that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and apposite to the Group though no
in-house or outsourced internal audit function as required by the CG Code has
been set up. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of concern which

should be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As with any business, the Group faces risks and uncertainties on a daily basis.
In determining the principal risks posed to the Group, the Board takes into
account the overall severity level (based on the impact and likelihood matrix)
of the risks set out in the composite risk reports and their changes during
the financial year. It also examines their nature and impact on the Group and
evaluates the effectiveness and suitability of the mitigating strategies as applied
by taking into consideration the actual operation and performance of the

Group.

From the Group’s overall perspective, the following are identified as principal
risks currently encountered by the Group. That said, they are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive. There may be other risks which may not be
material now but could turn out to be such in the future. Although the principal
risks may not change significantly from year to year, their magnitude and

importance to the Group can and do vary.
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Risk pertaining to Leasing

SEEEARENER

Being an unprecedented blow to travel and tourism industries as well as
retail and catering sectors, COVID-19 has posed an ongoing negative impact
on iISQUARE and its tenants. Although there was a sign of recovery towards
the end of year 2021 due to Hong Kong'’s success in putting epidemic under
control and relaxation of international travel restrictions resulting from the rise
in global vaccination rate and the shift to the strategy of “living with COVID”
by many countries, the fifth and strongest ever wave of COVID in Hong Kong
in the first quarter of 2022 called a halt to the economic recovery. Following
the social distancing measures tightened to the most stringent level by the
Hong Kong government immediately thereafter, local consumption activities
were seriously disrupted. Business of iISQUARE tenants was inevitably
adversely impacted. Coupled with the stepped-up inbound control measures
and quarantine rules, ISQUARE, being a shopping mall located in a tourist
hub, experienced a hard time. Amid the austere business environment and
the rise in number of vacant shops, the overall downward pressure on rental

level and occupancy rate of iISQUARE escalated in the year under review.

Although the epidemic situation in Hong Kong eased towards the end of the
reporting year given the availability of COVID-19 oral drugs, and the surging
number of infections and the increase in vaccine uptake which helped build
up the herd immunity barrier, the prospect of leasing and retail markets
remains uncertain as it depends greatly on the evolvement of the pandemic
and the containment measures adopted by the Hong Kong government from
time to time. In view of the aforesaid, in particular the considerable negative
impact already on iISQUARE, and time required for different business sectors
to benefit from the lifting of restrictive measures, business outlook of tenants
continues to be uncertain and challenging and risk of tenants’ default
remains. The Group facing an increased risk exposure in the year under

review has become unavoidable.

Key controls and mitigations:

o To offer short-term relief to tenants so as to alleviate their business
pressure whereby a sustainable business partnership can be

maintained

o To focus marketing efforts on drawing more people to and

encouraging consumption at iISQUARE

o To conduct direct engagement with tenants and closely monitor their

financial performance and payment record

o To adopt a more proactive approach in seeking potential tenants and

managing tenancy expiries and vacancies
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Risk pertaining to Ongoing Pandemic

SEFEBERRNFESHENEE

Although many countries are on the path to resume pre-pandemic normality,
way for Hong Kong to recover is relatively long due to the severe disruption
brought by the fifth wave of local infections and the measures rolled out by
the Hong Kong government in dealing with it. Given the heavy toll taken
on retail and catering business as a result of the dampened consumer
sentiments as well as the stagnant inbound and outbound tourism in Hong
Kong, iISQUARE, as with other shopping malls generally, experienced a
difficult time. The adverse impact on the Group was significant as iISQUARE is
the Group’s main business operation. Since a sustained economic recovery
in Hong Kong counts largely on the unfolding of the pandemic and the
containment measures applied locally, there was no apparent change to the
risk exposure in the year under review despite the positive progress made on

the worldwide level.

Key controls and mitigations:

o To stay alert to the latest development in relation to COVID-19 so that
swift adjustment to corporate strategies and business activities can be

made

o To maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flow and a low

gearing level so as to cater for unforeseen circumstances
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Risk pertaining to Economic and Political Outlook

SRS & BUA AT AR B R E R

Since the Group’s business activities are mainly conducted in Hong Kong,
restoration of local social stability is definitely an advantage to its operation.
Taking into account the economic recovery with different paces across the
world, Omicron (the dominant variant of COVID-19 nowadays) appearing to
cause less severe infection, as well as the foreseeable relaxation of COVID
curbs in Hong Kong in view of the improved coronavirus situation in late
March of the year 2022, the risk exposure pertaining to economic and

political outlook in the year under review decreased.

Key controls and mitigations:

o To closely monitor the operating environment so as to enable prompt

adjustment to corporate strategies and business activities

o To engage a prudent and sound financial management with a view to

ensuring business resilience and coping with unexpected changes
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Risk pertaining to Investment Properties

BBV EEEA AR

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Group’s
investment properties (“IPs”) are stated at fair values in the consolidated
statement of financial position whilst changes thereof are recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Given the relatively heavy weighting of the IPs in the Group’s property
portfolio, any material change in the valuation of the IPs can seriously affect
the Group’s profit/loss for the year. Although one of the key drivers of the
said valuation is rental income which can be volatile and there has been
an increased downward pressure on rental level and occupancy rate of
iISQUARE, no apparent change to risk exposure is expected as valuation is

indeed determined by myriad factors.

That said, due to the current financial reporting requirements, valuation
changes have influenced and will continue to influence the Group’s profit/

loss though its cash flow will not be affected.

Key controls and mitigations:

Ensuring stable revenue streams is a practicable way to mitigate the adverse
impact caused by valuation losses during economic downturns. Measures

taken by the Group include the following:

o To build up a more diversified tenant mix with the aim of maintaining a

sustainable tenant portfolio

o To launch creative and popular promotions so as to increase
exposure, thereby stimulate consumer spending and add value to the
IPs

o To stay alert to market changes and tenant needs for retaining

competitiveness and countering peer competition

o To preserve quality of the IPs by carrying out maintenance and

enhancement works
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In addition to monitoring the impact of the principal risks that the Group is
now facing by adjusting its corporate strategies and mitigating measures, the
management will keep observing if there is any emerging risk which may affect

the Group significantly on a regular basis.
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Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of remuneration paid by the Company to its auditor, KPMG, in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group during the

financial year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

BN &
ARTRABUD — REARHBEBHRAE
—F- = =+ B IHEEE AR ERE
2RI BRI T2 (0B ST T

Audit services ZE RS 820
Non-audit services IERZ B PR TS

. Tax services o THISHRTS 63

. Interim review o  FRHIZRH 201

264

1,084

Shareholders’ Relations

To enhance its accountability and promote transparency, the Company has
adopted a shareholders’ communication policy which provides the framework
for even and timely dissemination of information to and maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with its shareholders. Steps to be taken for handling inquiries and
requests put forward by shareholders are set out in a separate document.
According to the said policy and the Company’s other policies as well as
practices, channels of shareholder communication and engagement are

summarised as below:

Encouraging participation/interaction

o The Company’s general meeting is at least held annually so as to provide
an opportunity for direct interaction between its shareholders and the
Board. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or appoint proxies to attend, speak and vote at meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend. Board members, in particular, the
Chairman of the Board and chairmen of the Board committees, or their
delegates, appropriate management staff and the Company’s external
auditor normally attend annual general meetings to answer shareholders’

questions.

o Shareholders are provided with means by which their enquiries can be
put forward to the Board. Such channels, including designated email

address (aihlcosec@tianteckgroup.com), correspondence address, fax

number and telephone number, are made available on the Company’s
website. Contact of the Company’s share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited who should deal with queries

relating to shareholders’ own shareholdings is also provided.
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A questionnaire is sent out together with the Company’s annual report
whereby shareholders can freely express their views on the Company’s
performance as well as concerns over any other matters affecting the

Company.

Views on key stakeholders are solicited by sending them questionnaires

on a randomly selected basis.

Providing information

Corporate communications, such as financial reports and
announcements, are prepared in both English and Chinese versions and
in plain language so as to make the documents understandable. Such
documents are despatched to shareholders and released to the public

domain in a timely manner.

Information released by the Company to the HKEx is posted on the

Company’s website (aihl.etnet.com.hk/eng/ca_calendar.php) thereafter.

The Articles of Association of the Company which spell out shareholders’
rights are published on the websites of the Company and the HKEXx.
During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, there were no changes

made to the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Company’s dividend policy (as detailed hereinafter) which sets out
considerations taken by the Board in determining dividends as well as
conditions in which dividends can be declared is disclosed in annual

report as required by the Listing Rules annually.

Ways for shareholders to convene general meetings and put forward

proposals thereat are set out in annual report.

Subject to applicable legislation and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of

the Company as amended from time to time, shareholders of the Company

(“Shareholders”, and each a “Shareholder”) may convene general meetings and

put forward proposals at general meetings. The relevant procedure is set out

below:
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To convene an Annual General Meeting (‘“AGM”)

The Company holds a general meeting as its AGM every year. An AGM is

usually held in September.

If the Company fails to hold an AGM (which is unlikely to occur) after
6 months have elapsed since the end of the Company’s financial year,
any Shareholder may apply to the court in Hong Kong which, on such

application, may call or direct the calling of an AGM of the Company.

To move a resolution at an AGM

Shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a resolution for an AGM if

they represent at least:

() 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who have
a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request

relates; or

(b) 50 Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at the

AGM to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the Board at
9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the proposed resolution;

() be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the
AGM to which the request relates or if later, the time at which

notice of the AGM is despatched.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will request the Board to include the resolution in the agenda
for the AGM. On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included in the agenda
for the AGM.
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To convene a General Meeting (“GM”)

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having a right to vote at GMs can request the Directors to

call a GM.

The request:

(@) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at

the meeting;

(b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved

and is intended to be moved at the meeting;

() may consist of several documents in like form;

(dl) must be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company; and

(e) must be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will request the Board to convene a GM by serving sufficient
notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and

accordingly, a GM will not be convened as requested.

Directors must call a GM within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice

convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not convene a GM as required, the Shareholder(s)
concerned or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them may themselves call a GM, and the meeting
so convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after the
date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a
GM. The Company must reimburse any reasonable expenses incurred
by the Shareholder(s) requesting the GM by reason of the failure of the
Directors duly to call a GM.
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To propose a person other than a Director of the Company for election

RERAS (BERREFAS)RAIFARAE

as a Director at a GM, including an AGM

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company at the
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office by
electing a person thereto. If a Shareholder (other than the person to be
nominated as mentioned hereinafter), who is duly qualified to attend and
vote at the GM for which the notice of intention as hereinafter described
is to be given, wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
of the Company for election as a Director of the Company at any GM,
he/she should sign and deposit a notice of intention to that effect at
9th Floor, iSQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, the registered office of the Company, for the attention of the
Board together with a notice signed by the nominated person of his/
her willingness to be elected. The minimum length of period during
which such notices are given shall be at least 7 days and the period for
lodgement shall commence no earlier than the day after despatch of the
notice of the meeting appointed for such election (inclusive of such day)
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such GM (“Lodgement

Period”).

To enable the Company to inform Shareholders of the foregoing
proposal, the written notices as mentioned above shall be accompanied
by (i) the information of the nominated person as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and (i) the written
consent of the nominated person to the publication of his/her personal

data.

Relevant procedure and the Lodgement Period for each such GM
will be set out in the corresponding circular to be despatched to the

Shareholders.

If the notice is received less than 15 clear days prior to the GM, the
Company will consider adjourning the GM in order to allow Shareholders
at least 14 clear days or 10 clear business days’ notice of the proposal,

whichever is the longer.
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Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM

Eligible Shareholders can express their views on a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt with at a GM
in a written statement of not more than 1,000 words and request the
Company to circulate it to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of a

GM. Eligible Shareholders must represent at least:

(@  2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the

relevant right to vote; or
(b) 50 Shareholders having the relevant right to vote.
For a statement concerning a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to vote on that
resolution at the meeting to which the request relates. For a statement
concerning other business, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to
vote at the meeting to which the request relates.
The request must:
(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the Board at
9th Floor, ISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;
(b) identify the statement to be circulated;

() be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company at least 7 days before the meeting

to which it relates.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the Company will
circulate the statement to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the

meeting provided that:

(@) if the request relates to an AGM,

i) the statement is received in time to enable the Company
to send a copy of the statement at the same time as the

notice of AGM is despatched; or

(ii) otherwise, the Shareholder(s) concerned have, not later
than 7 days before the AGM, deposited a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in circulating

the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s) concerned.

(b) if the request relates to a GM other than an AGM, the
Shareholder(s) concerned have, not later than 7 days before
the GM, deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in circulating the statement submitted by

the Shareholder(s) concerned.

On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order or as not having
received in time for the Company to send a copy of the statement
together with the notice of AGM or the Shareholder(s) concermned has/
have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the circulation purpose within the time frame (as the case may be),
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the statement will not be circulated to Shareholders entitled

to receive notice of the meeting.
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Dividend policy

With the aim of providing Shareholders with a sustainable dividend stream, the
Company has adopted a dividend policy which lays down guidelines to the
Board in determining dividends. It clearly sets out considerations the Board
shall take into account when proposing dividends. These factors include,
inter alia, financial performance, working capital requirements and future
development plans of the Company and general economic environment.
Subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association
of the Company, the Board may declare dividends provided that there is a
profit (excluding valuation changes) for the year/period concerned. To give
flexibility to the Board in making payout decisions after having regard to the
circumstances then pertaining, the dividend policy does not specify any payout
ratio, the form dividends shall take or frequency they shall be declared. This
policy will be subject to review by the Board from time to time and updated as

and when considered necessary.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

TEHEEEHRS

Governance Structure

Being a responsible enterprise, the Company is not only concerned with
its financial growth but also its non-financial performance. The Company
recognises that the manner in which it conducts business will impact on the
environment and society. As such, the management strives to make a positive
contribution to the sustainability development of the environment and society
by integrating the socially responsible practices in its daily operation. Under the
sustainability governance structure, the Board assumes an overall responsibility
for the Company’s sustainability matters and oversees all related strategy
management, performance and reporting whilst the Executive Directors are
accountable for driving environmental and social responsibilities initiatives and
reviewing their practices for performance improvement. With the assistance
of the management and through the risk assessment exercise, the Board also
determines relevance of the sustainability issues and reviews the Company’s
performance on emissions, waste disposal, energy use and water efficiency
on a regular basis so as to ensure progress made against the corresponding

targets is properly managed.

Reporting Scope

This Corporate Social Responsibility Report provides a review on the Group’s
performance of its environmental and social responsibilities for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. As iISQUARE is the Group’s main business operation,

its performance is included herein unless otherwise specified.

Approach and Strategy

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules. Its content is determined through a process which involves identification
of stakeholders and relevant issues in relation to environmental and social
responsibilities and prioritisation of the issues to be reported after taking into
account the stakeholders’ expectations and the Group’s unique business
nature. In this report, only the environmental and social responsibilities
initiatives and performance that are material and/or relevant to the Group and
its stakeholders are outlined. During the financial year ended 31 March 2022,
the Company complied with all the mandatory disclosure requirements and

“comply or explain” provisions, where applicable, set out in the Guide.
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Stakeholders’ Engagement and Materiality
Assessment

To truly understand the views and expectations of the stakeholders on
sustainable development, the Company keeps ongoing communication with
its key stakeholders. During the year under review, the Company engaged its
shareholders, employees, business partners and tenants through face-to-face
discussions and/or questionnaires. Reporting issues are identified according
to the impact of the issues on the Group’s business and stakeholders as

evaluated by the management and the stakeholders respectively.

Environmental Issues

Policy

Since the management acknowledges that the Group shall take into account
the impact of its business operation on the environment while achieving
financial growth, the Group has adopted an environmental policy with a focus

on the following:

1. ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements
2. setting up long-term carbon emission reduction targets
3. enhancing behavioural change among staff through internal

communication and awareness activities

4. where practicable,

o incorporating environmental considerations into contracting

decisions and tenant selection

o adopting eco-friendly practices in daily operation
° disposing of waste in an environmentally responsible way
o reducing waste, and reusing and recycling materials
5. communicating the Group’s policy to the management company of

iISQUARE and encouraging it to integrate the environmental concerns

into its operation process
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Initiatives

In order to support environmental conservation, the Group, in addition to its
practice in collecting used/useless lai see packets for recycling, participated
in the lai see packets reuse programme organised by Greeners Action during
the year under review by sponsoring it for the event and providing iISQUARE
as one of the collection points. The Group also took part in “Earth Hour
2022” organised by World Wide Fund for Nature (“WWF”) with a view to
enhancing environmental awareness among staff. During the reporting year,
a sustainability initiatives scheme was launched whereby employees were

incentivised to give proposals on eco-friendly practices in office.

Simultaneously, the Group continues to operate office facilities in an

environmentally responsible manner, for instance:

. using water-saving sanitary fittings, such as dual flushing cisterns and

photo-sensor water taps

° purchasing white paper with FSC certification only

o disposing of used paper which is good for recycling through a paper

recycling company

. employing multi-zone lighting controls
. returning used toners/cartridges to suppliers for recycling
. using environmentally friendly paper for printing corporate

communication to shareholders

. switching off air-conditioning, lights and computers when they are not in

use
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For the purpose of matching up the Group’s concern over environmental
protection, ISQUARE, being the Group’s main business operation, also takes
proactive steps towards this end. During the year under review, not only did
iISQUARE install flow controllers to water taps whenever practicable with the
aim of improving water efficiency, it also took part in “Earth Hour 2022” and
“Umbrella Bags Reduction Accreditation Program 2021” organised by WWF
and Greeners Action respectively. To help enhance the public awareness
in proper waste disposal, iISQUARE through the participation of a recycling
scheme hosted by Greeners Action was a designated location for collecting

properly disposed beverage cartons.

In addition to the aforesaid, ISQUARE keeps employing those green measures

it has been using, such as:

. use of ultra low sulphur diesel for generator
. diversion of used water from cooling towers for flushing
. reviewing and, where possible, shortening daily operating hours of

escalators, lifts, lights and air-conditioning at areas accessible by

shoppers

. encouraging tenants to follow guidelines in relation to environmentally
friendly practices and providing them with hints thereon through

iISQUARE publications

o recycling waste paper, plastics and metals via the participation of the
“Programme on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial Waste”

as organised by the Environmental Protection Department

o recycling glass bottles through the government-appointed glass

management contractor

. equipping the building with energy saving features and materials, such as
the use of glass curtain walls to minimise lighting sources and window
films with anti-UV coating to reduce solar radiation and heat, where

appropriate
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With the implementation of various energy saving initiatives during the year STENAREEZEEITHZIEEEE - B215F2019
under review, including those adopted as a result of the reduced number of HEANE R A TSI B AR MELEE - BERE
shoppers due to COVID-19 pandemic, the amount of electricity purchased BB NARIBENEHOLRANMELENEZESE
by iISQUARE from power company and the indirect greenhouse gas (‘GHG”) AR EEEE T AF=A=+T—HItHK
emissions generated therefrom dropped by approximately 22.74% and 52.92% FEE(AIANER G RRIBABLREE 2 £ ) E
respectively (details of which are shown in the table below) when compared FHE DRI TEEA22.74% 2 52.92% (F£1E R T
with the figures of the financial year ended 31 March 2015, i.e. the year in x) o

which relevant energy numbers were first collected.

Amount of purchased electricity (MWh) BESCKR/E) 10,464.57 9,352.44 13,544.42

Indirect GHG emissions from purchased EEMBENE N NEENEZAS
electricity (tonnes of CO, equivalent) REHHE (A _atiREE 4,081.18 3,460.40 8,668.43
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Performance =

HRAEEEBREYERE RIEER - B
BSAEZURB AL  EEANEEAERE
BEERERE D - RAFE - AREmMEERNHEE
BEREHNEAER(BIEREES) 2NN E

under review was the indirect GHG emissions from electricity consumption. BB -

Since the Group is principally engaged in property investment and investment
holding, and iISQUARE is predominantly service-oriented, the total amount
of direct GHG emissions generated by them is relatively small. The largest

contributor to the carbon footprint of the Group (including ISQUARE) in the year

1. GHG emissions' (CO, equivalent) 1.

BERBHN (ZE(LREE)

Direct sources (Scope 1)’ EERR (8E1)
e Diesel (tonnes) o Lh2(AME) 0.65 0.68
Indirect sources (Scope 2)' [EEERR (#5/E2)"
e Electricity® (tonnes) o T(ANE) 4,102.50 3,482.07
Other indirect sources (Scope 3)' B AR (EE3)
e Electricity used for processing fresh o RIEBRKMEMAE D (ABE)

water (tonnes) 20.59 13.11
e Electricity used for processing sewage® o FRIRISKMEARE I (ARE)

(tonnes) 9.76 6.38
e Paper waste disposed at landfills® o FEEMHERAEMR(AME)

(tonnes) 0.18 0.43
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) BE R AR E (SE1 - 2K3)

(tonnes) (W) 4,133.68 3,502.67

GHG emissions avoided R HEE RN
e Recycling of paper” (tonnes) o ARIREIUK(AME) (146.21) (159.84)
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2. Energy consumption

2. BERER

Direct energy consumption EEREUEFE
e Diesel® (MWh) o LEmPOIKEL/ M) 2.73 2.85
Indirect energy consumption [BEZRETE FE
e FElectricity® (MWh) o T-HCKE/EF) 10,519.22 9,411.01
Total energy consumption (MWh) BEREFEEE OKE/\BE) 10,521.95 9,413.86
Total energy consumption per m? of BYFREHEE SR EEEE

floor area (MWh/m?) KEL/ N K) 0.20 0.18

3. Paper consumption'™

3. MIFHFEC

e Office paper (kg) o MAEREK(AT) 503.85 550.05
e Paper for printing corporate o ENRATEAAK(RT)

communication (kg) 397.18 407.08
Total paper consumption (kg) ERERE(RT) 901.03 957.13
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4. Water consumption' 4.  FAKEM

Total water consumption (m?) @Rk E(ZK) 48,072.00 31,418.00
Total water consumption per m? of FEFAKEEEIEZ AkEE
floor area (m3%/m?) (AR FH5HK) 0.91 0.59
As the Group is situated at iISQUARE where water is provided by the AR AREBRFRMABERES  MEERE
Water Supplies Department, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not 27 MHAKTIREKBE - HARER (BRIFERE
encounter any problem in sourcing water for daily operation. ES) A EEELTES /KR ERF(
MR -
5. Waste management 5. REWEE

Non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills'? ZEERIBEEEHIEZEFEEY?
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills & A #HEIE R EZEZYEE

(tonnes) (AME) 1,301.49 1,256.84
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at BYFAEEEEZZEERNEHRRERN

landfills per m? of floor area (tonnes/m?) MEFEYMAE (AW FHXK) 0.02 0.02
Waste collected for recycling FERI B
e Paper” (kg) o HRS(AT) 30,460.00 33,300.00
e Plastics™ (kg) o BE(ARF) 203.00 196.00
o Metals'™ (kg) o SES(AF) 163.00 149.00
e Toners/cartridges'® (pieces) o RMERBEC(HF) 13 17
o Glass" (kg) o IHWV(AT) 2,332.00 633.00
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Note 8:

GHG emissions, including classification and calculation basis, are based on the
“Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals
for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” as
prepared by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental
Protection Department (“Hong Kong GHG Guidelines”). All numbers in this table, where
applicable, are rounded to two decimal places.

Boundary for the scopes

Scope 1 is the direct GHG emissions from the emergency generator owned and
controlled by iSQUARE. It excludes any offsets, if available.

Scope 2 is the indirect GHG emissions that are resulted from the generation of
electricity which the Group (including ISQUARE but excluding tenants which purchased
power through their own metered supply) purchased from power company for own
consumption.

Scope 3 is other indirect GHG emissions that (i) come from paper waste disposed by
the Group (excluding iISQUARE) at landfills; and (i) are relevant to the activities of the
Group and/or ISQUARE and are generated due to electricity used for processing fresh
water and sewage, excluding those operated from tenants’ own metered supply, by
government departments.

The breakdown of Scope 1 GHG emissions in respect of the financial year ended 31
March 2022 is as follows: carbon dioxide (0.65 tonnes of CO. equivalent), methane
(0.0001 tonnes of CO, equivalent) and nitrous oxide (0.0006 tonnes of CO, equivalent).

Emissions are calculated as per the amount of diesel consumed by the emergency
generator of ISQUARE, and the emission factors and the Global Warming Potentials set
out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions are calculated according to the amount of electricity purchased by the
Group (including iISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills and the
latest emission factor as published by the relevant electricity provider.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the Group
(including iISQUARE) as shown in water bills, the latest available unit electricity
consumption of fresh water as published by the Water Supplies Department and the
territory-wide default value of purchased electricity.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the Group
(including iISQUARE) as shown in water bills and the default emission factor (which is
determined according to the purpose of water used, the latest available unit electricity
consumption of processing sewage as published by the Drainage Services Department
and the territory-wide default value of purchased electricity).

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of office paper consumed by the Group
(excluding paper generated by the management company engaged to run iISQUARE
(“MgtCo”) for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE) net of office paper collected for
recycling and the relevant emission factor set out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions avoided are calculated according to the amount of paper collected for
recycling (including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external
parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE) and the relevant emission
factor provided in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of diesel consumed by the
emergency generator at ISQUARE and the relevant conversion factor set out in the “List
of common conversion factors (Engineering conversion factors)” as published by IOR
Energy Pty Ltd.
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Note 9:  Energy consumption is the amount of electricity purchased by the Group (including
ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills.

Note 10: Referring to paper generated by the Group only (excluding paper generated by the
MgtCo for any purpose in relation to ISQUARE).

Note 11: Being the amount of water used by the Group (including iISQUARE) as shown in water
bills.

Note 12: Being the estimated amount of general waste disposed through iISQUARE, including
those generated by the Group. Such amount is derived based on the aggregate of
the average daily amount of general waste for (i) weekdays and (i) weekends/public
holidays as collected and weighed by the cleaning contractor of iISQUARE at different
time slots multiplied by the number of relevant days in a year.

Note 13: Including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external parties to the
Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE.

Note 14: Being plastics disposed through iISQUARE.
Note 15: Being metals disposed through iISQUARE.
Note 16: Being toners/cartridges used by the Group.

Note 17: Being glass bottles disposed through iISQUARE.

Due to the business nature, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not generate
a quantifiable amount of hazardous waste and disclosure of total packaging

material used for finished products is not applicable.

Climate

Climate change has become one of the major global issues in recent years. As
a responsible entity, the Group remains vigilant and is committed to responding
to the climate-related risks through its operation. In determining the relevance
and extent of the climate-related exposure facing the Group, the Company
holds Board-level discussions with particular regard paid to their financial and
operational implications on the Group and conducts group-wide risk assessment
exercise pursuant to the guidelines delineated in the Company’s risk
management policy. Position and principles adopted by the Group in managing
impact arising from climate change are set out in the Company’s environmental

policy (summary of which is mentioned hereinbefore).
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Although no significant climate-related issues having a profound effect on
the Group are identified given its focused geographical spread and business
nature, influence of climate change on the Group is unavoidable. Main
exposure includes interruption of business operation and staff safety issues
caused by tropical cyclones; higher insurance premium resulted from damage
to property brought by extreme weather; and increased electricity consumption
as a result of higher temperature attributed to global warming. To tackle climate
challenges the Group is encountering, mitigating measures (including those
adopted by iSQUARE) which have been taken are setting up of an emergency
response team; formulation of work guidance under extreme weather;
taking out of business interruption-related insurance; adoption of electricity
conservation measures; and where practicable, use of heat resistant materials
on glass panels and installation of additional safety fixtures on cladding panels,

to name but a few.

Save as disclosed above, the operating activities of the Group (including
iISQUARE) have no significant impact on the environment, natural resources or

climate-related issues.

Targets and progress management

Targets

Since the Group’s principal business operation — iISQUARE is a shopping
mall located in Hong Kong, its environmental performance is subject to some
factors which are beyond its control, such as number of shoppers and overall
temperature in Hong Kong. After taking into account of the aforesaid and based
on the principle of practicability, the Board has set the Company’s reduction
targets for emissions, waste disposal, energy use and water consumption as
being not higher than their respective baseline years'. For effective progress
management, the Board will, with the assistance of the management, monitor

the environmental performance by benchmarking it against the targets set.

Going forward, iISQUARE will initiate a trial programme on recycling fluorescent
lamps and start a pilot run in using solar lights for planters. In addition,
iISQUARE will continue its energy saving programme on lighting system through
identification of locations where more energy efficient lights could be installed
so as to further reduce electricity consumption and keep exploring new green

measures.

Note 18: Baseline year is the first year in which all data required for calculation of a particular
aspect is available to the Company.
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Achievements

R

GHG emissions

BERBHER

L £ 38.82%

(baseline year FEXE4: 2017)

Non hazardous waste disposed

@/ 534.13%

(oaseline year FE#E4F: 2019)

%j $15.54%

(baseline year FEXEG: 2017)

Water consumption
JiFi

$1.13%

(oaseline year FE#E4F: 2017)

Note: Achievements refer to those gained by the Group and/or iISQUARE
7 RRIEAAKE R LERESHRGE

~

attained a silver level in Umbrella Bags Reduction Accreditation
Program 2021 organised by Greeners Action
REFBETHERR LR, IREREBREZBE 2120214
ESRARE

accredited for Hong Kong Green Shop Alliance Award 2021 by
Hong Kong Green Building Council
RER BB CEEZ QRN T B E R B A 522021

collected 60 kg of lai see packets for recycling

FXZh R 60 A T MR HETEIRGE A

collected over 9 kg of beverage cartons for recycling
WEBBIN T ABRmE M ELIK

obtained a Certificate of Merit under the Commendation Scheme
on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial Waste
organised by the Environmental Protection Department

RIRRRES RN TRHEEDRED BREA ST ESERR

being a signatory to both the Energy Saving Charter 2021 and
4T Charter as jointly launched by the Environment Bureau and
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department

FERRE/LEE T REH A FHLAFELNTE2021 RATHE

being a signatory to the Enterprises Cherish Water Charter 2022
jointly launched by the Water Supplies Department and Green
Council

FEBKBEMRRIEES KREZN D MEKHF2022
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Compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations

During the year under review, the Group (including iISQUARE) was not aware of
any non-compliance with any laws and regulations relating to the environment
that had a significant impact on it. An overview of the laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate
Social Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on

pages 63 to 64 of the annual report.

Social Issues™

Since the management of iISQUARE has been outsourced to the MgtCo
and there is no need for the Group to directly deal with employment-related
matters in respect of ISQUARE, discussion on areas relating to social issues
only covers the Group and does not include staff of the MgtCo employed for

general building and property management of iSQUARE.

Note 19: Calculation bases for figures in relation to employee profile and training are based on
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” as
composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. All relevant numbers, where
applicable, are rounded to two decimal places.
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Employment

As the Group’s success depends largely on the support of its employees?®,
the management places great emphasis on maintaining a quality workplace.
Building up a culture which advocates ethical and responsible business
practices has become essential. To this end, the Group has adopted an anti-
corruption policy and a general code of conduct (“Code”) which apply to
both Directors and employees. The former one focuses on issues relating
to corruption whilst the latter one deals with areas of data privacy, copyright
protection, prevention of bribery, whistleblowing and equal opportunities.
According to the Code, employees are required to observe the requirements of
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance
and their respective codes of practice. In addition, the Group has laid down an
employment policy, setting out principles on recruitment and promotion, such
as equal opportunities and “selection on capability” basis. Procedures and
factors to be considered on review of the remuneration packages of the senior
management are delineated in the remuneration policy. Information in respect
of the Group’s remuneration review mechanism is mentioned in the Corporate
Governance Report headed “Remuneration committee” as set out on pages
13 to 14. To be consistent with the principles of the employment policy on
motivating employees and providing equal opportunities, performance appraisal
is conducted annually. It is the basis for salary adjustment, discretionary bonus

and promotion.

Although policies on compensation and dismissal, working hours and rest
periods, and some other benefits and welfare are not put in writing, relevant
steps to govern their application and due observance have been developed
and implemented under the management of the Executive Directors of the

Company.

Note 20: In this Corporate Social Responsibility Report, “staff” and “employees” exclude
Directors of the Company and staff employed by the MgtCo for general building and
property management of iISQUARE.
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Employee profile and engagement

BETERNSH

Workforce

&

@)

Gender distribution of workforce

33 (2021: 33)

All employees are full-time staff and based in Hong Kong

FrEESSREBET  WREELIE

O Breakdown of workforce by age group

BERIB D O mewaEnns
AGE
o, . [o}
72.73% 27.27% Zdzzbg etk
. [o} . 0, e Vi
All (2021: 75.76%) (2021: 24.24%) At
employees
RBET
6.06% (2021: 9.09%)
75% 25% Aged below 35
Senior (2021: 75%) (2021: 25%) 35 AT
management
= s
BEREZAR 66.67% (2021: 69.70%)
M Female &% Male 1% Aged 35 - 55
35-55 5%
Turnover rate
BmE
Overall 0
e 6-06 /0 (2021: 0%)
i
Male
B 0 0/0 (2021: 0%)
Female
by gender 0
BRI BS 7 8-33 /0 (2021: 0%)

Aged below 35
o
0 /O (2021: 0%)

* by headcount

BABEHE

Aged above 55
55 B L

35 BT
m Aged 35 - 55
AGE 35 55 & 9.09% (2021: 0%)
by age group
B wRAR B

0 0/0 (2021: 0%)
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Although the Group does not have a collective bargaining policy or similar
practice in place, it respects its employees and takes steps to ensure their
voices are heard. Other than departmental meetings and communication
through emails, the Group encourages direct dialogue between the
management and staff by adopting a non-bureaucratic culture. Employees can

freely bring up issues to the management when they consider necessary.

Given the importance of understanding its employees’ concerns on an ongoing
basis, the Group conducts employee satisfaction survey every year by which it
can solicit staff opinions about their work environment and expectation. Survey
result is shared by the management so as to identify ways to make further
improvement. The following is an extract of the survey result conducted by the

Group in the reporting year.
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; ‘ Employee engagement
* EEHSHE

Overall satisfaction

BERREE

90.32% (2021: 84.38%)*
was either satisfied or very
satisfied with the Group as
a whole

HAREERB FRTRE
RFEERE

Workforce-management
relationship

HEEERE

83.87% (2021: 80%)*
was happy with the
workforce-management
relationship

RRBERMERL

Group cohesiveness

BER

66.67% (2021: 63.64%)

has been working with the
Group over a decade
ERAKERBGBBTF

@ Absence rate
@

RENE
1.45% (2021: 0.87%)

* According to the respondents of the employee satisfaction survey conducted by the Group in 2021 or 2022, as the case may be.
REAEER T —F T —F(RFER T2 REREREMESHERZHERETE -
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Since a good work-life balance is significant to the employees, the Group
encourages its staff to complete their tasks within office hours and organises
gatherings for them so as to promote the spirit of the Group. During the
year under review, the Company invited not only its staff but also their family
members and friends to participate in “Aveda Walk & Run for Water 2021”
organised by A Drop of Life with a view to providing them an opportunity to do

exercise and cultivate relationship simultaneously.

Understanding its employees’ concerns, the Company organised an online
workshop concerning retirement planning as delivered by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority (“MPFA”) for all its staff. In the financial year
ended 31 March 2022, the Company was the third time in a row awarded “Good

MPF Employer” by the MPFA.

Development and training

In order to create a supportive workplace which enables the employees to
develop their professional potential and discharge their duties adequately,
the Group provides subsidy for job-related training to all full-time employees,
irrespective of their rankings. Given the complexity of job duties, senior
management is provided with additional funding for outside training. Other than
financial support, the Group also organises group-wide training for its staff from

time to time.

Key topics covered by the training undertaken by the employees during the

year under review included:

o compliance and regulatory updates
. anti-corruption
o health issues

The following is an analysis on employees’ training in the financial year ended
31 March 2022.
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66 . 67 0/0 (2021: 75.76%)"

Training BB B R WAL, SME S

&2

90.91% (2021: 84%)
Female

g

9.09% (2021: 16%)

Male
Bt

by gender
gV k(b

of employees received internal/external training

Breakdown of trained employees

BEZEIREND

18.18% (2021: 16%)

Senior management
SEEREAE

81.82% (2021: 84%)

General staff
TWET

by employee category
RESER &S

Total training hours completed

HE | B B

All employees
FREREE

82 -5 (2021: 85.5)

Average hours R 2.50 (2021: 2.59)

Male
B

by gender
BB &2

Female

g3

35 (2021: 8)

Average hour FHFFE: 0.39 (2021: 1.00)

79 (2021: 77.5)

Average hours FHERFE: 3.29 (2021: 3.10)

by employee
category
RESERES

Senior management
EEEEABR

General staff
EEET

43 (2021: 40.5)

Average hours FHEFE: 10.75 (2021: 10.13)

395 (2021: 45)

Average hours FHRFE: 1.36 (2021: 1.55)

* Total number of employees who received training in the reporting year is 22 (2021: 25).
RREFEEZEIINEELEAB2A(ZTZ—F : 25A) °
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Health and safety

Since the Group’s main business is property investment and investment
holding, health and safety risks posed to its employees as a result of
occupational activities are relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group is dedicated
to provide a healthy and safe work environment to its staff and therefore has

established a policy in this regard with an emphasis on:
° compliance with all applicable statutory requirements

° ensuring a continuous improvement of the health and safety level at
workplace by reviewing the operating practices and seeking comments

from employees from time to time

o adopting measures which can reduce, control and if possible, eliminate

hazards at workplace

o conveying the Group’s concerns over health and safety to the MgtCo
and requesting it to get its front-line staff and contractors familiarised

with the proper procedure required in that regard

With a view to raising safety consciousness in workplace, the Group during
the year under review launched a sustainability initiatives scheme whereby

employees were incentivised for proposing ways to enhance workplace safety.

For the sake of the health of its staff, the Group in the reporting year organised
a group-wide online talk delivered by the Labour Department on promoting
healthy eating at work. In addressing the threat posed by COVID-19, special
arrangements were implemented which included shortening office hours and
granting special leave as well as offering cash incentive to staff for taking

COVID-19 vaccine.
For the year under review, there was no working day lost due to work injury or

work-related fatality occurred in each of the past three financial years, including

the reporting year.
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Labour standards

While the Group does not have its own specific policy regarding child labour
or forced labour, it is a statutory requirement in Hong Kong, the principal place
of business of the Group operates, not to engage the same. To ensure the
Group’s compliance with the laws concerning prohibition of child labour, all job
applicants are required to present identity proof for checking during recruitment
process. Should the Group discover any non-compliance, it will take remedial
action, such as termination of the person concerned, immediately and report
to the relevant regulatory bodies/government departments if necessary.
Concerning prevention of forced labour, the Group will ensure sufficient rest
days are given to employees and will not force any staff to work overtime in the

situation against their will.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with any laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it relating to
employment, health and safety, and labour standards as mentioned in aspects
B1, B2 and B4 of the Guide. An overview of the laws and regulations significant
to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate Social
Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on pages 63 to

64 of the annual report.

Supply chain management

Given the Group’s business nature and operation mode, its suppliers can
broadly be categorised into direct suppliers®" and indirect suppliers. For
the former one, it refers to those the Group directly liaises with, such as the
MgtCo, professional service providers and some other companies that deliver
services for support of the Group’s infrastructure and office operation on
areas such as insurance, banking and information technology. Services of the
indirect suppliers, such as electrical and mechanical engineering, cleaning and
security, are provided under the umbrella of and covered by the contracts with
the MgtCo. Based on the expenditure level and the significance to the Group,
the Group’s key suppliers are bankers and the MgtCo (both of them are also
the Group’s direct suppliers), of which, the role of the latter one is particularly

important given its “contracting” relationships with the indirect suppliers.

Note 21: In the table immediately following, “direct suppliers” only refers to those having a
“spend value” with the Group of HK$50,000 or above per year (excluding activities of
non-procurement in nature and inter-company transactions) based on the principle of
materiality. All such suppliers are with operating offices situated in Hong Kong. No
relevant data in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2021 is available. As
for “direct suppliers” appearing in other parts of this section, all the Group’s direct
suppliers are covered, i.e. not only referring to those being subject to the aforesaid
restriction, unless otherwise specified.

Associated International Hotels Limited %8BI B E 155 /R A 7 56

T3
g5 T4

HANEBIY ML E TR H8 TRES TR
B EBEEVAEEMEZEEME)EFEREDT
BEEEAETI RIS T - ARASEETEHES
FREIRERE  FTERKBESAEREBIET TR
S NBRAUEAZE - WEEREMTEHETA K
SEE S AEREA TR AER R - R REBAL
WIEA R ZR AR EE W BUT P EL 2
e EEMRGHLTIIH  A5EERRESEE
BHHRER BT ERAREEREREEBNE
SUTHNEE

RAFE  AEEWEMBEERGETTAYEAE
EEEATEMEER BEELERETAER
(BNSRE4E3IHB1 - B2 RBAEE ) HERER LR
Bl o WAL B EREEREEERERREDIBE
PN A FRECSECAB D ELSETRER U
[EZERRAGBEENIBANA -

HEgEEE
ERAEENEBEENSERRN - HHEFARK
AN REEMEEWNE - BRHERT2HEEARE
EEEERBBEOMER i EEAR - BHE
FIRFE IR R — L AN SR B B AR A6 S &
=EF > ERR - RITRBRERXMITH - 12
HXIRN AR - FERHEHORE - RETRE -
BEREMERZ - ABBERARRIEESOME
o BRTHSBNHAKENEREME - A%E
MEEHERERTLEEQR(MEYZEEERK
HIER) - RN RE EMEMHEEAOI 2L IBE
HAGHASELEES -

21 EEEEMRAIT - BE2 RO R Es E
EE AL B 5EH 50,0007t 8 A E R ERER GF
HUEEBIERBEENAEEE T AR ZEANZ ST OIEE
M) - FTAZSHERNEERMIRRES - RBEE-F
ZFZA=+-HIUEMERFE  ARETEESEBE
B e RANEE D Htb i B AR I e[ B e J Al A EE
HFTA B A RER (BN SF S sR AT FT R R ) MRS BIGE
BRERRSN o



Corporate Social Responsibility Report f%#&5FifE

EERHERHE

Number of direct suppliers

29 NA 7@

Since suppliers, whether direct or indirect, are the “extension” of the Group,
their behaviour shall reflect the Group’s values. Although the Group does not
maintain a separate policy on managing environmental and social risks of
its supply chain, it has embedded the relevant concerns in its environmental
policy and health and safety policy. As the MgtCo is the key supplier which
poses a significant impact on the Group, it is provided with relevant policies of
the Group in the hope that it can convey the Group’s concemns to the indirect
suppliers. The MgtCo is also requested to integrate the Group’s values into
its operation process where practicable and economically viable. Apart from
written communication, the Group has frequent direct dialogue and regular
meetings with the MgtCo. According to the said policies, the Group also
reviews its practices from time to time so as to reduce health and safety risks
at workplace and incorporates environmental considerations into contracting

decisions where practicable.

While acknowledging the potential impact of the environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, the Group, in addition to maintaining an ongoing
communication with all its suppliers, evaluates the presence of the said risks
through press and media coverage, questionnaires, and information available
on websites. Should there be any risks identified, the Group will follow it up
closely with the suppliers concerned and request them to mitigate the adverse
impact as much and as fast as possible. Together with the risk management
policy which sets out persons responsible for risk identification in place, the

Group’s approach in dealing with the said risks is properly managed.
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Given the importance of maintaining a stable and quality supply chain to
support long-term business development, the Group has set some criteria
it has to base on in selecting suppliers. They include, among other things,
price, engagement terms, track record of good practice as well as reputation.
Consideration will also be given to green factors where practicable and
economically viable. Existing suppliers with quality performance during
their contract terms will have priority over others given the importance of
business continuity. For ensuring proper control over supplier selection,
all engagements except those being immaterial are subject to the Group’s
established approval procedure, which shall involve consent given by relevant
department head and/or Executive Director(s). In order to make sure the Group
receiving quality service, it conducts review on suppliers’ performance on a
continuous basis, and the result of which will become one of the factors in
determining their further engagement. On the contrary, if the performance is
found unsatisfactory, the Group will give warning to the contractor or, for more
serious cases, terminate the contract if circumstances deemed appropriate.
The foregoing selection process, though not reduced to writing, is applicable to

all direct and indirect suppliers.

For engagement of contractors through tendering and those relating to
information technology, the Group has set additional selection requirements,
which include preliminary qualification review on contractors before shortlisted
for selection and number of companies invited for bidding. With the close
supervision of the management and the adoption of the environmental
policy and procedure manuals which respectively set out the need of giving
environmental consideration in procurement and the approval process, the
practices in relation to engaging suppliers, whether direct or indirect, are

effectively implemented and monitored.

Understanding the significance of green procurement, the Group’s
environmental policy has incorporated relevant concerns therein. Suppliers
offering products with green elements are always preferred. Instead of looking
for specific suppliers, the Group focuses on products offered. For instance,
the printing firm is required to use recycled paper for corporate communication
whilst the MgtCo is required to get its sub-contractors to use products with
greater energy efficiency and/or causing less harm to the environment wherever
practicable. Overwhelming focus on a particular factor in selecting suppliers
may compromise benefits brought by other factors. For the Group, selection of
suppliers is always based on myriad considerations with an emphasis on the

overall interests of the shareholders/the Group as a whole.
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Although more than 60% of the direct suppliers have been a working partner of
the Group over a decade, the Group values the relationships with them and is
eager to know if there is any room for improvement. To achieve it, a satisfaction
survey was sent to some of them on a random basis during the year under
review. The feedback of the survey was encouraging. It showed that all (2021:
all) the respondents found partnering with the Group was not merely mutually

beneficial, but also as a whole satisfactory.

Product/service responsibility

Shop tenants of ISQUARE are the Group’s key customers. Establishing a
sound and lasting relationship with them is pivotal to the success of the Group.
To facilitate a two-way communication, the management team gives a walk-
through of ISQUARE on a daily basis and pays visits to individual shops when
required so as to exchange views with the tenants directly and respond to
their concerns efficiently. The tenants can also contact the management,
leasing and promotion teams via telephone and email as and when needed.
For ensuring tenants’ dissatisfaction, if any, is properly addressed to in a
timely manner, a formal complaint-handling mechanism is in place as well.
Having noted the areas the Group has to further work on, such as marketing
and management services, from the interaction with tenants and shoppers,
discussion with the management will be carried out to see if improvement can
be made. With the aim of maintaining a long-term business partnership with
tenants, the Group reviews its strategies from time to time and adopts special
measures in extraordinary situation. During the financial year ended 31 March
2022, the Group continued to offer rent relief to tenants in view of the difficult

operating environment brought by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Other than customer relations, the Group also recognises the importance
of personal data protection. Relevant concerns have been incorporated into
the Code and are communicated to the employees. According to the Code,
employees are required to safeguard the privacy and security of personal
information of the Group’s stakeholders by observing the data protection
principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Collected information is
accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. In view of the close relationship with the
MgtCo, the Group has also made known to it of the Group’s concerns in this

regard.
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Number of service-related complaints received? Fe 1% B AR 75 4R B M0 IR B I 2% 12 NA 3 3
Number of data privacy-related complaints received?? 121 ER & Kl 7L S 8 R B0 12 5 1K 8022 0 NA 3 B

Although the Group may not be subject to many issues concerning intellectual
property rights due to its principal activities being property investment and
investment holding, it continues to make its best endeavour to observe relevant
laws and regulations. Measures taken include installation of original software
on computers and obtaining licence for newspaper copying. To prevent
employees from using unauthorised software, only designated person can do
the installation. With the aim of ensuring due observance of intellectual property
rights, all employees are required to strictly adhere to the Code which sets out
the Group’s relevant concerns therein. The MgtCo who operates the Group’s

main investment property is also provided with the Code.

Providing a safe environment to the tenants and shoppers is also a great
concern to the Group. Other than having developed a communication
mechanism for ensuring timely notification to the tenants of confirmed cases of
COVID-19 and follow-up disinfection works, iISQUARE in the reporting year was
accredited under the Anti-Epidemic Hygiene Measures Certification Scheme
as organised by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency for having achieved
a set of hygiene standards. Although property management of iISQUARE is
the job of the MgtCo, the Group still closely monitors it by receiving updates
from the MgtCo via regular project meetings and daily report. On top of it,
the project team also patrols ISQUARE on a daily basis so as to ensure it is
managed in an orderly fashion. As for ad hoc issues, the MgtCo is required to

report to the Group promptly.

Due to the business nature, percentage of total products subject to recalls and

quality assurance process as well as recall procedures are not applicable.

Note 22: No data is available before the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
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Anti-corruption

As the Group has zero-tolerance on any forms of bribery, corruption and fraud,
it has established an anti-corruption policy setting out the relevant requirements
its directors and employees shall comply with and situations in which
acceptance of advantages is allowed. All employees are required to undertake
their adherence thereto. To provide channels and guidance for employees
and those who deal with the Group to report on any suspected irregularities,
improprieties, misconduct or malpractices within the Group, a whistleblowing
policy has been laid down and published on the Company’s website. Upon
receipt of any reported issues, investigation led by the Audit Committee will be
conducted in the manner set out therein. The Board will also be updated in due
course. To detect malpractices as early as possible, internal control activities

deemed appropriate for the Group are in place.

To promote the anti-corruption culture across the Group, a training session
as regards anti-money laundering was organised for its Directors and senior
management during the reporting year. Employees were provided with
information about corruption risk pertaining to customary and common
business practices as available on the website of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption. The Group was not aware of any legal cases regarding

corrupt practices brought against it or its employees in the year under review.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with any laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on it relating to product responsibility and anti-corruption as mentioned
in aspects B6 and B7 of the Guide. An overview of the laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate
Social Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on

pages 63 to 64 of the annual report.

Community

In recognition of its role in advancement of the community, the Group has
established a community policy. General principles on donation, focus areas (viz
those enhancing community development, improving quality of life, helping the
underprivileged groups and aligning with the Group’s development), and the
form in which the support is delivered are stipulated therein. To put words into
actions, not only did the Group during the year under review make donations to
the charities set out below, it also mobilised its staff to take part in “Aveda Walk
& Run for Water 2021” and “Dress Casual Day” as organised by A Drop of Life

and The Community Chest of Hong Kong respectively.

61

k&5
HRAARERTERERAEANER - BE5RK
#'H%Eﬂ&&ﬁﬁﬁ“*ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%&ﬁ%
VRETORBEN  ARAFEXNENIE
Wﬁ%l%ﬁ%wgﬁ°ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ$%@ﬁ¥
BERZATREMSRARBEZIZEER - T
B REAEKITRREHEBRRERES AR
EHERBBOR - WEHNEBIER © EREEMA
B - ARRIGLMAIEN TN - XABEZEZE
CRERMARE - EFENLERETHBER -
REBEREETE  ARBECREERREBEN
MEREEIZIEE) ©

RERERETXE  AEERBEFEREEER
SEEEABRSRENRERENEZI - TAER
RETHENRBEAZHEL - BAROERKEERH
BISEH RIS RESRBOER - RAFE - K
KBS ETAEME B A KB ERB Y MEFTT
v EOE/

%@é:?::ﬁiﬂi+—ﬁ¢%ﬁ¢ﬁ’$$
HABETHMEAEREEATEM

ﬁ%&;&ﬁjﬁ(%ﬁih%¢%&mﬁﬁ)
HEARERRBRN - GAEEXBEEGEZNN
ERMBROIBESHNAFRESECABMDE
HEEEREP A EEEERAD | BZENBS

ﬁqo

#HE
AEERAOEEHERESHAR  ALEHE
MHEREK  ZPIIHBRO KRR EZEHE
(BMEEMEER  REETEE  HBPHSa
REREEER-—BNER)RIEFN - 458
T AEETMERAFEBRT M2 &S
B - MEHETIHRSHEAEREDREAD
m e RPN AVEDAREIEK2021 1 R A& E Ak
Al

Annual Report 2021-2022 F#



Corporate Social Responsibility Report ¥4 &5FHRE

88%
To enhance
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development

EEAERRE

Community
HE

0.30%

To help the
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groups
ERUESE

11.70%

To improve
quality of life

REEFERE

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, donations made by the Group amounted to HK$169,000 (rounded to the nearest thousand).
REE-ZT-—F=A=1+—HILMERFE - FEEZBRE HEE169,0007T CASIEIRL 2 FAHITR) ©

Po Leung Kuk
RRB

The Community Chest of
Hong Kong

YN

I Greeners Action
LRCBITED

I A Drop of Life
BE R

Fu Hong Society
KEE

The Group believes that going beyond corporate philanthropy by providing
venues to organisations for hosting charitable events is a good way to help
the needy as it can inspire others to follow and draw the public attention to the
needs of the underprivileged. Although requests made by charities for venue
provision had decreased significantly due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 offered venue at a
substantially discounted rate to YMCA and Yan Oi Tong for hosting an event
concerning students with special educational needs and a kick-off ceremony
for charity raffle tickets respectively. With the aim of promoting the concept of
sharing with those in need in particular during festive season, the Group also

bought mooncakes at “Orbis Mid-Autumn Charity Sales” for its employees.

Instead of giving one-off support to benevolent programmes, the Group
showed its continuous care to the local community by joining Diamond
Sponsorship Programme of Po Leung Kuk, an iconic charity in Hong Kong,
and granting it a licence for placing a donation box at iISQUARE throughout the

year in question.
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Significant laws and regulations

Failure to comply with laws and regulations as set out in the box below can
give rise to civil and/or criminal liability, including fines and imprisonment. A
breach of those in connection with emissions, employment and data privacy
can have a direct adverse impact on the environment, ruin the relationship
with workforce and damage the Company’s reputation respectively. Details of

management approach are set out in the table following.

Significant laws and regulations Key ways to ensure compliance

BEEREREH RREFEEERGINEESE
Emissions HEX
Waste Disposal Ordinance e providing guidelines in the Company’s environmental policy for managing negative impact

(Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)
FEMIBR B 15101

(BABEDIE354%) .
L]

Employment {E{&

Employment Ordinance .

(Chapter 57 of the Laws

of Hong Kong)

(A

(BEEDIFSTE) .

Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance

(Chapter 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

1B B E D
(BHBENIE282%)

associated with its business operation

EARRBNREBOR T LG IE BEFEF AR A M ERMES

engaging a cleaning service contractor who has in place an Environmental Management
System to arrange and dispose non-hazardous waste

BHORAREEIERRNFZMGAND L M RIE EEEEY

recycling materials principally through green groups/contractors contained in the Hong Kong
Collector/Recycler Directory as appearing on the website of the Environmental Protection
Department

FTELGEERE RINBERRESAEA(ESEWNBELRTEPHEREESE
L

utilising a software which is fully compliant with relevant ordinance(s) to manage payroll and
related issues

EREENERREIRENRERE SR TEREHEER

putting in place a number of Company’s policies such as employment policy and general
code of conduct which are in line with the employees’ rights and benefits provided in
relevant laws

RNRRIMEITZIAEMEERE T1& S IR — B EeR - ERBERN—ReE
=R
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Significant laws and regulations Key ways to ensure compliance

BEEERSM BREFEEERFINEESE
Health and safety f2EHE%Z 2
Occupational Safety and Health e setting out guiding principles on promoting a safe work environment in the Company’s

Ordinance

(Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

Bz MERGD
(FBEDIZE509%)

Product responsibility 2 i =

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance .
(Chapter 486 of the Laws

of Hong Kong) (“PDPQO”)

BB (FLEE) 1545

(BB EDIE486F ) ([ FLEEHI])

Anti-corruption K &35

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance o
(Chapter 201 of the Laws

of Hong Kong)

b5 L B B 16k o1

(BBEDIFE201E)

health and safety policy
AR RN EEEZ 2R P IS AEE L 2 TIFRIBHARRA

incorporating the principles of the PDPO in the Company’s general code of conduct for
which all employees are required to undertake adherence to

HEFLR GO P2 DK R BN AR R B — R ac <P RIF - WIREPTE RS VARG
B

establishing an anti-corruption policy and a whistleblowing policy whereby to emphasise the
importance of ethical business conduct and uphold an anti-corruption culture

HIERBSBRMBHREER - WEBRESEEBHTSBRARTANERE
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) submits herewith the
annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31 March 2022.

Principal Place of Business

Associated International Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and
principal place of business at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha

Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are property investment and investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set

out in note 13 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the

“Group”) during the financial year is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

Financial Statements

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 91 to 150.
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Dividends and Annual General Meeting

An interim dividend of HK$0.19 per share (2021: HK$0.25 per share) was
paid on 7 January 2022. The Board now recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.21 per share (2021: HK$0.19 per share) in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Subject to the members’ approval on the proposed final dividend at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company
will be closed for the purpose of determining entitlement to the said final
dividend from Friday, 16 September 2022 to Tuesday, 20 September
2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Thursday, 15 September 2022. The proposed final dividend will be
paid on Thursday, 6 October 2022 to members whose names appear on the
register of members on Tuesday, 20 September 2022 following approval at the

annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 9 September 2022.

For the purpose of determining the identity of members who are entitled to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 2 September 2022 to
Friday, 9 September 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. All transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on Thursday, 1 September 2022.
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Business Review and Commentary

Business model and strategies

The Group’s business is property investment in Hong Kong. The Group
generates and preserves its value through being an investor in the property

market.

To accomplish this, the Group strives to nurture growth from its existing
properties through prudent management. Whilst the Group generally maintains
a prudent and conservative approach towards property investment, it also
seeks to exploit opportunities for future development. With the aim of securing
stable and recurring returns, the Group has adopted very stringent investment

criteria and targets only high quality projects and investments.

The Group recognises the importance of sound financial strength to support
sustainable growth and future development and hence, its fundamental
strategy is to maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flows and a

low gearing ratio.

Financial results

The Group achieved a profit from operations before valuation changes
in investment properties of HK$177.7 million for the financial year ended
31 March 2022, representing a decrease of approximately 43.8% compared with
the previous financial year. The decrease was mainly due to amortisation of
the rental concessions granted to most of the tenants of ISQUARE since the
outbreak of COVID-19. All rental concessions are amortised over the remaining
terms of the respective leases in accordance with accounting standard. In
addition, the reduction in both iISQUARE occupancy rate and rental further

reduced the rental income from iISQUARE for the year under review.

Valuation losses on investment properties for the financial year ended 31 March
2022 amounted to HK$1,266.5 million, compared with the valuation losses of
HK$1,788.0 million for the previous financial year. The valuation losses will only

affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows of the Group.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$1,120.8 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2022, compared with
a loss attributable to equity shareholders of HK$1,525.5 million for the previous

financial year.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Financial results (continued)

iISQUARE is a commercial complex housing retail, entertainment, food
and beverage establishments. Rental income from iSQUARE amounted to
approximately HK$300.2 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately 30.8% compared with the previous
financial year. The occupancy rate at 31 March 2022 was approximately 73.5%

(2021: 76.7%).

Capital structure and liquidity
The total equity for the Group at 31 March 2022 was HK$9,319.8 million,
compared with HK$10,577.4 million at 31 March 2021.

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement with a bank
comprising of a 3-year term loan facility of up to HK$200 million and a 3-year
revolving loan facility of up to HK$100 million both at floating interest rate.
Following the first supplemental agreement for extension of the facilities to 8
October 2021, the Company entered into the second supplemental agreement
with the bank on 23 August 2021 for extension of the facilities for three years
to 8 October 2024. The Company has an option to further extend the facilities
for two additional years to 8 October 2026, subject to, among other things, the
agreement of the lending bank. At 31 March 2022, the banking facilities were
utilised to the extent of HK$200 million (2021: HK$200 million) and the Group’s
gearing ratio (calculated as total bank loans divided by total equity) was 2.1%

(2021: 1.9%).

Staff

At 31 March 2022, the total number of employees of the Group, excluding
the staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for general building and property management of iISQUARE, was 38 (2021:
38) and the related costs incurred during the year were approximately
HK$30.5 million (2021: HK$26.5 million). The increase in the related costs
was mainly attributable to the wage subsidy under the Employment Support

Scheme of the Hong Kong government granted in the previous financial year.

In addition to salaries, medical and retirement benefits, the Group pays
discretionary bonuses to its staff. Sponsorships for necessary outside training

courses are also provided by the Group to its staff.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Key performance indicators

(@

Adjusted cost of services to revenue ratio

Definition and calculation: Adjusted cost of services to revenue
ratio measures the operation performance by comparing adjusted
cost of services as a percentage of revenue (adjusted cost of
services are calculated by deducting impairment losses on
accounts receivable from usual cost of services). It shows the
level of direct expenditure required to generate every dollar of

revenue.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The ratio provides
direction on controlling and better using expenses. iISQUARE is
the principal investment of the Group and it contributed 99.6%
of the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: almost the entire Group’s revenue). The extent to
which this goal has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
ratio for ISQUARE from one year to the next, as it is an indicator

showing the operation performance of iISQUARE.

Quantified KPI data: The adjusted cost of services to revenue ratio

for ISQUARE at 31 March 2022 was 28.7% (2021: 18.7%).
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Business Review and Commentary (continued) ESCAEIEPN T )
Key performance indicators (Continued) BRI EZE @)
(o)  Occupancy rate (o) HA=E
. Definition and calculation: Occupancy rate is a measure that ° TENE - EEXRERMEKBERIALN
reflects the leasing performance. It is defined as lettable area that mER%  viECHELJHEAEREGR
have been rented out as a percentage of the total lettable area. AIARmEEMNE DL -
o Purpose: The Group aims to enhance leasing performance. o BH) : AEBURARBREABE -
The extent to which this goal has been achieved is assessed by HHER (AR RASETRAMERE
comparing occupancy rate for each investment property from KEREEZ  #oE—FRAETN—F&
one year to the next, as it is an indicator showing the leasing BEYENEHEERT G B IEEERN
performance of various properties in the Group. BE-
. Quantified KPI data: o ErEARRFIERHEE

Occupancy rate

HiEE
At 31 March 2022 At 31 March 2021
Investment properties REYE A2022%3H31H R2021F3A31H
iISQUARE S 73.5% 76.7%
Other commercial properties in Hong Kong IR B ELfth m 2 % 100% 0%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong NRBEENTEYE 100% 0%
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Environmental policies, performance and related
compliance; key relationships with stakeholders
Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with environmental-related laws and regulations as well as key
relationships with its stakeholders as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance can be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility
Report on pages 36 to 64 of the annual report, and such discussions form part

of this Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in
the Corporate Governance Report headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control — Principal risks and uncertainties” as set out on pages 24 to 27 of the

annual report, and such discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Particulars of important events
The Board has not identified any important events affecting the Group that

have occurred since the end of the financial year.

Outlook

With the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic, the management expects
lower rental values to continue and will take appropriate measures to cope with
the situation. It is anticipated that the adverse impact on rental income from
iISQUARE and the results from operations of the Group for the coming financial

year will continue.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheong Hooi Hong
Cheong Kheng Lim
Cheong Keng Hooi
Cheong Sim Lam

Cheong Chong Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Wong Yiu Tak

Lee Chung

In accordance with articles 95 and 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Miss Cheong Chong Ling and Mr Lee Chung shall retire from the Board by
rotation at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. None of the directors proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).
During the financial year and up to the date of this report, directors of all the

Company’s subsidiaries were Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, Mr Cheong Kheng Lim,

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong Sim Lam.
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Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and considers all the independent non-executive

directors to be independent.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2022, the directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had the following interests in
the shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”):

(@ The Company

B MR FERD
BRE(BEBBMARZMBERARES LRI £
MARAN)E3.13M% - ARRIEWEIGAIBLIERTT
EFEMEBUMNEAFTHERS - AR/ E
B IFMITERHREILAL

EENRESTHRAEER®D »
HERODNEEETHNERZR
23]

BARBRBGESR MK ([EHEN])E
B ERFNECTMBR - FILR( LT
ABFETEHFXHHRETRD([RET R A
Hi B RAARR BB AR ZMAERAE (5
KADELEBRE - ARARNES  &HITBAR
REMEANRETRUZER )R -_T-_—F=F
=t REAARRLEBBEE (AT A RS K
ISEXVEDFT B E 2 ) i 2 s N T

(@) AT

Number of ordinary shares

ZEREE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEBTH
BRER AREERG
Name ®H B AR REER By HAENEIL
Cheong Hooi Hong a2 2,073,992 - 2,073,992 0.58%
Cheong Kheng Lim SEIFMR 24,555,715 1,034,000 25,589,715 7.11%
Cheong Keng Hooi e 11,759,839 275,280 12,035,119 3.34%
Cheong Sim Lam B4 1,807,155 24,000 1,831,155 0.51%
Cheong Chong Ling IR 1,588,000 - 1,588,000 0.44%
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares

and Debentures (continued)

EERRETHRAER
*H%ﬂxfﬁ%ﬂﬁ%if &
/K)E (&)

-E- il

Z mt
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N

(b) Tian Teck Land Limited (b) REBE#EHBRAF
Number of shares
REE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HERITH
BxEx BREER®M
Name & B REER By AgNES
Cheong Hooi Hong EEE 4,035,792 590,000 4,625,792 0.97%
Cheong Kheng Lim SBIZMN 46,023,872 115,292 46,139,164 9.72%
Cheong Keng Hooi §E 26,862,036 1,002,384 27,864,420 5.87%
Cheong Sim Lam B4 1,099,504 - 1,099,504 0.23%
Cheong Chong Ling $BIEIS 412,000 — 412,000 0.09%
(c) Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited (c) REARAT
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HERITH
BnEs AREERS
Name #E BAER REER HE BRI
Cheong Hooi Hong EER 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Kheng Lim SEIRM 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Keng Hooi s 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Sim Lam fipedea) 25 — 25 25%
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors and chief B FAtpTIEERE AN - AN BIR R E A &0 £ 352

executives of the Company or their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2022, other than the interests of the directors and chief
executives of the Company as disclosed above, the Company has been
notified of the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded in

the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

FTERRREMALEROFAEE
JRAD PRV ROX B

Br LTI 2 A AR ERE RESTTHABR#ER
SN ARARERA - WARKR D IZREH 15515336
BHRERSRNELMHMERER  RZE =
A=+—B#MAARRRBRMD 2 ESELT

Number of Percentage of total
ordinary shares issued voting shares
HEBITHERERE

EBRRHE ROBHOBEDL

Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited REBRAT]

180,030,681 50.01%
(Note 1)(F£1)

Tian Teck Land Limited REMEBR AT 180,030,681 50.01%
(Note 1)(7£1)
Cheong Kheng Lim $EIFAR 25,589,715 711%
(Note 2)(3t2)
Lim Yoke Soon MBE B 25,589,715 7.11%
(Note 2)(7¥2)
Notes: 5
1) The register of interests and short positions in shares kept under section 336 of 1) PR EE 7 16191 25 336 16k 1 B 17 B0 AR 1 M 2k Rk B B e fift

the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by Tian Teck Investment Holding
Co., Limited is the same as the 180,030,681 shares disclosed by Tian Teck Land
Limited.

) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the same as the 25,589,715
shares disclosed by Ms Lim Yoke Soon. Out of the 25,589,715 shares, 24,555,715
shares were held by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, and 1,034,000 shares were held by
his spouse, Ms Lim Yoke Soon.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no other interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company required to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO

have been notified to the Company.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company, its parent company or controlling shareholders or any of their
respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
or an entity connected with him (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) had a material interest (whether directly or
indirectly), was entered into in the year or subsisted at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

Due to allowances for expenses actually incurred, the directors’ emoluments
of the following directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 have

changed when compared with those for the last financial year:

o Mr Cheong Hooi Hong’s emoluments increased by HK$220,000 to
HK$2,482,000.

. Mr Cheong Kheng Lim’s emoluments increased by HK$94,000 to
HK$3,223,000Mt 1, of which, HK$2,718,000 (2021: HK$2,730,000) was
covered by his service contract with the Company as chief operation

officer.

o Mr Cheong Keng Hooi’'s emoluments increased by HK$1,394,000 to
HK$3,348,000.

o Mr Cheong Sim Lam’s emoluments increased by HK$231,000 to
HK$2,329,000.

o Miss Cheong Chong Ling’s emoluments decreased by HK$193,000
to HK$1,723,000M 2, of which, HK$1,202,000 (2021: HK$1,203,000)
was covered by her service contract with the Company as chief

administration officer.

Despite the above changes, the Company’s policy regarding the said expenses

has not changed.
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Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules (continued)

Notes:

(1)

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2022, the
estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,293,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$1,485,000).

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2022, the
estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,281,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$1,485,000).

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in force

and was in force throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Management Contracts

(@)

The Company has an administrative services agreement and also a
non-administrative services agreement, each for an indefinite period,
with its immediate holding company, Tian Teck Land Limited, whereby
the Company agrees to provide, respectively, company secretarial
services (under the administrative services agreement) and office space
and various staff (under the non-administrative services agreement). The
aggregate fees received by the Company for the year ended 31 March

2022 amounted to HK$1,200,000 (2021: HK$1,200,000).

A management agreement exists between the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited whereby this
management company is responsible for general building and property
management (except for the services relating to tenancy) of iISQUARE.
The management agreement was renewed for a term of twelve months
commencing on 6 August 2012 and shall be automatically renewed
on an annual basis thereafter, subject to the right of termination by the
Company. Manager’s remuneration of HK$600,000 (2021: HK$600,000)
was paid by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the management and

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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Fixed Assets EE&E

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out as follows: REBERREENT -

Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation HERSEREZEYE
Location Existing use Term of lease
25 REAE HEFH
iISQUARE (excluding an office on 9th Floor) Shopping centre Medium

63 Nathan Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

(Kowloon Inland Lot No. 7425)

B E S (NBRELNIVENRAE) YO A
NRER B IBHE S+ =5R

(NLBE MR 742555)

Good Luck Industrial Building Workshops and Medium
Unit A on the Ground and 1st Floor, car parking spaces

and Car Parking Spaces Nos.

L1, L2, L3 & L4 on the Ground Floor,

105 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon

(Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 22)

HET¥AE TS RIFE HhH
HTABRL - —HEAER

LT~ L2 ~ L3RLAZERL

NEBELRE-AZTER

(BUE AR 225%)

Euro Trade Centre Offices Long
5th Floor,

Nos. 13-14 Connaught Road Central and

Nos. 21-23 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

(Marine Lot No. 366)

BRE E 50 MA= =
hig

BBETHERP+ =2+ R
EEER -2+ =%
(g5 EX 36657 )
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s revenue attributable to the largest customer and
to the five largest customers accounted for 13% and 47% of the Group’s total
revenue respectively. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less

than 30% by value of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year have the directors, their close associates or any
member of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in

these major customers.

Bank Loan and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March

2022 are set out in notes 20 to 21 to the financial statements.

Retirement Schemes
Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 24 to the financial

statements.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$169,000 (2021: HK$204,000).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption by the Company
and its Subsidiaries of its Listed Securities
There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed

securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the

Listing Rules.
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Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on pages 151 to 152 of the annual report.

Auditor

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to be

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEHSEEEASEAGEE

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, aged 75, has been the Chairman and a director of
the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively.
He currently is the Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. He is also a director
of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the
Group. Mr Cheong is a member of both the CPA Australia and the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. He holds a diploma from the Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology in Commerce. He has extensive experience
in property development and investment both in Hong Kong and Singapore for

over 50 years.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim, Cheong Keng Hooi

and Cheong Sim Lam.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, aged 73, has been the Deputy Chairman and a
director of the Company since 1984. He has been the Deputy Chairman
and a director of Tian Teck Land Limited since 1983 and 1969 respectively.
He currently is the Chief Operation Officer of the Company and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited.
Mr Cheong is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and

various subsidiaries in the Group.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Keng Hooi
and Cheong Sim Lam and is also the father of Miss Cheong Chong Ling, a

director.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, aged 69, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Project Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong holds a

degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from the University of Hawaii.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Sim Lam.

81

HITES

EEELE 755 ARR - ANEM—AN=
FRIEEARAR MR EBHERR AR ERIRE
= IR EARQFMAREMERR AR TERES
RRZBLZECEF  RARTARNEAERARNASE
EZHENBARES - B ERB AN
SEERIMIKGHMGEE s - WiFARMNRoyal
Melbourne Institute of Technologyf 3 X HISUR ©
ERETAEBRFMEEERNEE T EEE R
BETFNEEER -

ERETEREFTERMEL EFEMELER
EFELBTENLE -

ERM(RBERM) 4 - 735% - B — L/\EFH
MBEARBREFERES - TORR—NN=F
M—NANFRBEERBHEGR AR EFEM
% RBEAAREELEMARAMKEH
EBRARREEZZEEKE AKTAXREERA
AAEEZRENBARES -

BEMAERERERERSL  EREMELER
EE@4mALENILS  WARESEIRK/MANR
e

EE (RRBERE) B4 695% - DRI — L\
FM—NN\=FRABLERRBAMREMEARA
AEE  EARFRIREEE - AKTAREAR
RENMAEEZHNBARES - EEEFAER
RABTHEIRS LT -

EEEARTEENILE -

Annual Report 2021-2022 F#



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EEHgEEEAEEARE

Executive Directors continued)

Mr Cheong Sim Lam, aged 63, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Investment Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck
Investment Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. He
obtained a certificate in Accounting and General Business from Kapiolani

Community College, Hawaii and has over 42 years of working experience.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Keng Hooi.

Miss Cheong Chong Ling (also known as Cheong Chong Ling Diamond),
aged 51, joined the Company as an assistant to directors in 1997. She has
been a director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2007. She is
the Chief Administration Officer of the Company. Miss Cheong holds a degree
of Bachelor of Science from the School of Hotel Administration at Cornell

University.

She is the daughter of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, a director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, aged 66, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2004. He currently
also serves on the audit committee (as chairman), remuneration committee (as
chairman) and nomination committee (as member) of the Company and Tian
Teck Land Limited. Mr Chow has significant experience in accounting and
finance and has been an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since 1983 and an Associate of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia since 1988 and is a member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Wong Yiu Tak, aged 75, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2017. He currently also
serves on the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. Mr Wong holds a
degree of Bachelor of Science (Honours) from The University of Hong Kong and
a Master of Law from Peking University. He is now a serving solicitor in Hong

Kong and a consultant to Messrs. S.K. Wong & Co., Solicitors & Notaries.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EEHEEEEASEARE

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr Lee Chung, aged 48, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr Lee
holds a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering from Colorado School of
Mines in the United States and a MBA degree from the University of Warwick
in the United Kingdom. He has extensive experience in venture capital and

property investment in the United States, Israel and PRC.

Senior Management

Miss Chan Mei Yee, CPA, aged 45, is the accounting manager of
the Company. She holds an honours degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration and a degree of Master of Arts from City University of Hong
Kong. She has nearly 22 years of experience in accounting and auditing. Prior
to joining the Company in 2004, she worked for one of the big four accounting

firms.

Miss Susan Chan So Some, aged 71, joined the Company in 1987 and
has been the financial controller since 1990. Prior to joining the Company,
Miss Chan was a chief accountant of the Company’s ultimate holding
company. She has over 42 years of experience in accounting and financial

management.

Mr Choi Ming Kwan, aged 65, joined the Group in 1981 and has been the

Company’s project manager since 1990.

Ms Ng Sau Fong, ACG, ACS, aged 52, holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts from
The University of Hong Kong. Ms Ng joined the Company in 1992 as assistant
to directors and has been the company secretary of the Company and Tian

Teck Land Limited since 2004.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB ERE

KPMG

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Associated International Hotels Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Associated
International Hotels Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 91 to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z &R

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BB IR
ARBELSESREBERMNERAE - RAL AR
FEMBRRNEZZR/BEENFIR - BLFIEE
ERMERBRERAMHERRREABREETR
B o RITSHELEREHEBNER

Valuation of investment properties

REMENGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BLbr A B TR IR F T 12 5 AT 1(a) »

The key audit matter
BEREXSERE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRENERNAEEZBE

The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties located in
Hong Kong. The principal component of the Group’s investment
properties is ISQUARE, a shopping and entertainment complex
located in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.
EEEREBFAREREDE - E%&ﬁ%%ﬂﬂiﬁéﬂﬁi
WMo RERES - BRESUEREBRLAE - E—(lfFE
LRFEYTL

Management’s assessment of the fair value of investment
properties is based on valuations performed by an external
property valuer in accordance with recognised industry
standards.

EIRERIBIMNE Y E L EMILRIRB AT R ENIRLE
B FHEREMENAAEE -

EFTETTRE

One of the key drivers of the valuation of investment properties
is rental income which can be volatile, particularly in light of the
current economic status of the retail industry in Hong Kong.
REMEGHENES —HEAREDHE RS FLERBHES W
A BRIRERE N EETEENCBEMR -

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment

properties included the following:

BABEHE B MR GENEZRTFRENTERF

o assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued,
and considering their objectivity;
FHEIMNEY E A EMEER - RN ELENLRR
BEMB - AREEATHIL

o obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group on
which the management’s assessment of the fair value of
investment properties was based;

RS iedhEREEENIMNEEERMRERE TG
REVEN DA BEMGHNGERS

o discussing with the external property valuer the valuation
methodology and key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations;
EHNE A {ER R 7 2
hET R ERER

HEETDERGEETARANER
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

%
i
B
N
i
\ A

Valuation of investment properties

REMENGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BLbr B BT IRF T 12 @5 R 1(a) »

The key audit matter
BEREXEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RENBERNTEEZBE

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a
key audit matter because the valuation of investment properties
is inherently subjective and requires significant judgement
and estimation which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.

BMIEESENIREMEGLEY RBERERFEE  BAKRE
MEMBFEEGEERD - WEFTESAMFIE M

WML T HEESE R B E R R e o

with the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, on a sample basis evaluating the valuation
methodology applied by the external property valuer and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations, including capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents and comparable market transactions, by
comparing the key estimates and assumptions used
by the external property valuer in the valuation of each
investment property with market available data and/or
government produced market statistics; and
EHMONEDEEEASHBET - TR
FHESNIE Y (R EET PR A A E A BB
BYERHEMESREDELETRANIZ2MER
RER AT AR T I5 80 & 5 B BUR R LBV T35 ST
g% - HEERARANEEMFNBRR(BEERE
b - BT MISHESMA RN TSRS ) IREE
B M

comparing, on a sample basis, the tenancy information,
including committed rents and occupancy rates, provided
by the Group to the external property valuer with
underlying contracts and documentation.

UERA - hREERERE - BEaESEERINEY
FEMEMREENAEES RHEE - ARBEBELHOR
AR o
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z &R

Information Other Than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z &R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group’s internal control.
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z &R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate

with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z &R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yau Ngai Lun, Alan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEakAtMEZEBAR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) @ Z —ZE2 - =A=+—HILEE (B3 R)

2022 2021
Note $’000 $'000
BasE F Tt

Revenue LN 3 301,316 434,184
Cost of services BRAGAL AR (89,166) (92,367)
Gross profit EF 212,150 341,817
Other revenue Hiplg A 5 4,126 8,953
Other net loss H M Ei8 558 5 (6) (10)
Administrative expenses THER (38,585) (34,525)
Profit from operations before valuation BREYELESEH

changes in investment properties opES =l 177,685 316,235
Valuation losses on investment properties KEYELEEE 12(a) (1,266,543) (1,787,972)
Loss from operations after valuation REYELERHE

changes in investment properties FEESY R ] (1,088,858) (1,471,737)
Finance costs REE AR 6(a) (2,981) (3,047)
Loss before taxation BRELATE 1R 6 (1,091,839) (1,474,784)
Income tax FriS 5 9(a) (28,923) (50,720)
Loss and total comprehensive income DEIRERRRENL

for the year attributable to AEEBE

equity shareholders of the Company &AL PN L (1,120,762) (1,525,504)
Loss per share — basic and diluted BRERE —EXREE 11 $(3.11) $(4.24)

The notes on pages 97 to 150 form part of these financial statements. Detalils of FI7TE150E B A SRR —3L5 BN
dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 10. NAIEES IR AR SR IS HE M EE10 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBARRR

At 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R—Z2=_—&=H=+—H8 (LB % 3R)

2022 2021
Note $’000 $'000
BiaE Fx T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Fixed assets EEE 12(a)
— Investment properties — REYHE 9,143,380 10,408,610
— Other properties, plant and equipment — HiWz - BE RE&E 54,725 58,093
9,198,105 10,466,703
Current assets REBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments  JEURBERR - 514 RFEN K 14 149,104 188,314
Current tax recoverable AEAFE I FT 1S AR 9(c) 11,374 7,886
Pledged bank deposits DIRIRITIFR 15 3,417 21,801
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 16(a) 440,764 373,697
604,659 591,698
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals E TR & e s & A 17 44,511 30,488
Deposits received BETE 18 130,673 151,333
Provision for long service payments ARG EE 19 1,648 1,505
Bank loan — secured RITENR — HEH 20 - 200,000
176,832 383,326
Net current assets REBEERE 427,827 208,372
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABAE 9,625,932 10,675,075
Non-current liabilities kRBBE
Bank loan — secured RITER — HEH 20 200,000 -
Government lease premiums payable JERTER AT HE(E 21 1,572 1,649
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBBE 9(d) 104,523 96,027
306,095 97,676
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,319,837 10,577,399
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 48 M#ikinE
At 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)y A =2 == ==+ —H (LLB¥ %I R)

2022 2021
Note $°000 $°'000
bz T T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXR#E 22
Share capital &N 22(b) 360,000 360,000
Reserves & 8,959,837 10,217,399
TOTAL EQUITY XA 9,319,837 10,577,399
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022. EEEN T - _FRNA-TNBRETHFAIEL -
Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim - =
Director Director e IR
The notes on pages 97 to 150 form part of these financial statements. FI7TE150E MM B AT FEIwRER A —3F 5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) @ Z —ZE2 - =A=+—HILEE (B3 R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

DRERRRIEN
Share  Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
(&N Ery REBER R
Note $°000 $000 $000 $°000
BisE T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2020 202054 B1 B #9458 360,000 1,778,150 10,144,753 12,282,903
Changes in equity for the year: FEERREH
Loss and total comprehensive income  AEEEE R 2 ERA
for the year ek - —  (1,525504)  (1,525,504)
Dividends approved in respect of B E—VBEEE
the previous financial year HIRR B, 10(b) — — (90,000) (90,000)
Dividends declared in respect of BRAFBRFES K
the current financial year HIRR B, 10(a) - - (90,000) (90,000)
Balance at 31 March 2021 and M202153A31B R
1 April 2021 20214 A1 RN 360,000 1,778,150 8,439,249 10,577,399
Changes in equity for the year: AEERREE
Loss and total comprehensive income  AEEEE R 2 ERA
for the year k] - - (1,120,762)  (1,120,762)
Dividends approved in respect of B E—UBEEE
the previous financial year HIME 10(b) - - (68,400) (68,400)
Dividends declared in respect of BRANBFES K
the current financial year HIME 10(a) - - (68,400) (68,400)
Balance at 31 March 2022 A2022F3 531 H v &ER 360,000 1,778,150 7,181,687 9,319,837
The notes on pages 97 to 150 form part of these financial statements. FIOTE150B B A B wMEN—Z D -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

II'I_\ é EE: % 5ﬁ % %

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) @ Z —ZE2 - =A=+—HILEE (B3 R)

2022 2021
Note $000 $'000
s Fr T

Operating activities ReEs
Loss before taxation FRA A 18 (1,091,839) (1,474,784)
Adjustments for: FEIFR -
— Interest income — FEHKA (2,672) (6,838)
— Finance costs — BEMRR 2,981 3,047
— Depreciation — e 4,213 4,254
— Valuation losses on investment properties — REYEGEERE 1,266,543 1,787,972
— Net loss on disposals of fixed assets — REETEEBEFE 6 10
Operating profit before changes in BEESEBHLERT

working capital 179,232 313,661
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable, FEUERSK ~ 5T MTFEI R

deposits and prepayments B () 39,297 (85,928)
Increase in other payables and accruals H AR R FERHE AN 13,889 6,259
Decrease in deposits received BUET SR (20,660) (22,178)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for long RHIRS S EHE I, CRd)

service payments 143 (242)
Cash generated from operations REEBRMBHERS 211,901 211,572
Tax paid ERHIR
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BREERNER (23,915) (63,942)
Net cash generated from operating activities K& EEFIEBNRLS TS 187,986 147,630
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows SZ8RE&/RER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) EZ === =A=1+— B Lt EE (UB%5|R)
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2022 2021
Note $°000 $'000
BiaE F Tt

Investing activities REZTH
Interest received 2HFILE 2,584 7,841
Payment for purchase of fixed assets BARTEEENK

other than investment properties (TREREYE) (851) (670)
Payment for expenditure on investment wEM ST BT

properties (1,313) (1,032)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BEIRBIRITIFROR A, (380)

bank deposits 18,384 (18,845)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFEEE(FTR)W

investing activities REFE 18,804 (12,706)
Financing activities RMEED
Payment for government lease premiums payable 3¢ {<HEBURF & 16(b) (73) 69)
Interest paid on government lease premiums B IATHER S

payable 16(b) (86) (90)
Interest paid on bank loan EARITERFE 16(b) (1,794) (2,720)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A& R A 16(b) (970) (251)
Dividends paid BEX A (136,800) (180,000)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBTANESFE (139,723) (183,130)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeERBSSEYEM

cash equivalents (RA)E5E 67,067 (48,206)
Cash and cash equivalents 7A2021/2020F4 81 8B

at 1 April 2021/2020 HeRRESEEY 373,697 421,903
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March MIASIHWRERBELEEY 16() 440,764 373,697

The notes on pages 97 to 150 form part of these financial statements. FIOTE150B B A B wMEN—Z D -



Notes to the Financial Statements

TE AR ML

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 24 7% ¥ % 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note
2 provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior

accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together

referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the investment
properties are stated at their fair value as explained in the

accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights

(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note

1(h)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment

properties is accounted for as described in note 1(p)(i).

Other properties, plant and equipment

Other properties, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note 1(g)) and

impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of other properties, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the

date of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as

an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental
income from operating leases is recognised in accordance with

note 1(p)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Depreciation

(e))

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other

properties, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual

value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

— Land and buildings

Over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 40 years

after the date of completion

— Furniture, fixtures 5 years
and equipment
— Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of other properties, plant and equipment

have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a

reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated

separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if

any, are reviewed annually.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and other receivables) and accounts

receivable.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

Associated International Hotels Limited %5 BB & 155 R A 7 100

1

FESTTBR @

(9)

e

Hit¥ - BB RREER W ETE
RARLBHREWE) - BERA
RSB EG A EMT

— T REF AHBREAEFHRE
TR AR 2 A8
EEE - EKR
HEAF T ZR405F

— &M KE 5F
&L

— AE 5%

INREAE - BE RERHEE R HAEK
OB TR AR - BREEE MK
AERBAENEESIESEE S -
A SEEHD €D FHARITE - AXKE
S EFEMEENT AR MEE R
B)e

FEEFEREERE

() RESBIARERERNE
BEE
REBHBIEZBEKATENS
MEE(BELERRITEN
Re MRS FEY AR E M ER
FOFMEWERRBREEEE
HREEER -

BEHEEEENE
BEHMEEBRREEBRNER
s o EEBIENAETRE
ReZR(ARBEHEN TR
SERIR TR E ALK B IEF I
BNREREZENERE) MR
BT E -



Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is

material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition

or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate; and

— accounts receivable: discount rate used in the

measurement of the accounts receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12

months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model

applies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for accounts receivable are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest on

their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating

(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and

credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their

carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or accounts
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that other properties, plant and equipment and investments
in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial
position may be impaired or an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

= Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-

generating unit).

— Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if

measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of
an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to
profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the

end of the financial year (see notes 1(h)(i) and (ii)).

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note
1(h)()), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

0)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 1(r)).

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at

invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in

accordance with the policy set out in note 1(h)(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also

arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit

can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of
taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless

it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(d), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n)

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority

on either:
— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and

settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the

present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is

limited to the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Further details of the Group’s

revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the

accounting period in which they are earned.
(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(@)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the

fair value was measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties
() A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(s) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i

()

(vii)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are deducted in reporting the related expense
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which

the expenses are incurred.

Associated International Hotels Limited 5B BB & 5 R 2 7 114

1

HBMEE  BFEMRRTARERS
THREBABUHARESEBERBERE
R ETE R i LR R FHE
BER— -

ERIERREE D #BA T A FraTE AL
MEHmE A BNRZEFLEDEHEA
BRI - I B 7R an AR
HE  AETFEE  TFERIHME
- D HEm SRR ARIS TR AR A
UREERRMEEZI AU - RItE
Al o RMER A EARNE LS HT S
A EREBAAER - BIRJREABIATE

BUTRERR

8 & RREN KB R ES BT -
AN S5 [ I 38 <7 EL AP IR B - BIUR
BTSN R AR fRE - A%
B EAERER S VAL - ERRSAERE
M BEHEELANR—HEANEERTE
R IR o



Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

Changes in Accounting Policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group. However,

none of these developments are relevant to the Group.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not

yet effective for the current accounting period.

Revenue

The principal activity of the Group is property investment.

Revenue represents gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes two customers
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2022. Revenue from these customers
amounted to approximately $38,733,000 and $37,622,000 respectively.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not include any
customers with whom transactions had exceeded 10% of the Group’s

revenue.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

: S 3
4  Segment Information 4 HEEFR
The Group has a single reportable segment which is “Property leasing’”. REBRBEE—BAHRESE > BI[WER
Accordingly, the business segment information for this sole reportable Gl Atk - EMHE—EBREDHTNEKDELE
segment is equivalent to the consolidated figures. HHERLR S AR o
No separate geographical information is presented as the Group’s ERAEBEYERENRANEELRES
revenue and results of property leasing were derived from Hong Kong. B BRI ER W ER 25
— 42 357
5 Other Revenue and Net Loss 5 HAKEEFE
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
S Tt
Other revenue Heg A
Interest income FEUA 2,672 6,838
Management fee received from holding company — #E1EJ& A BIUCEREY & IR & 1,200 1,200
Compensation from early termination of leases AR IS TS EE = 743
Others HAth 254 172
4,126 8,953
Other net loss Hitg5ia 35
Net loss on disposals of fixed assets REETEEREFE 6) (10)
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

6 Loss Before Taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRBLATES 15
RBRISES R, GIA)

2022 2021
$’000 $'000
Tt T
(@) Finance costs (a) MERA
Interest on bank loan IRITERFE 1,928 2,710
Other borrowing costs E MR FRA AR 970 250
Interest on government lease premiums JESTER AT (B FI B
payable 83 87
2,981 3,047
(b) Staff costs (b) BT A
Salaries, wages and other benefits* e TEKEMER 48,719 41,091
Contributions to defined contribution RERFERIKRGT B
retirement plans 1,426 1,046
50,145 42,137

The amount was deducted $4,625,000 relating to the wage subsidy under

the Employment Supporting Scheme of the Hong Kong government

during the year ended 31 March 2021. The purpose of the wage subsidy

was to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees

who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant,

the Group was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy

period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.

# HE_TZ-—F=A=+—HILFE E8HE

B EEBBN R E I EIMEE 2 TEM
A4,625,0007C - TEMAL 2 B R BB ER
HEBZE  MRBHEET#EHE - B
BRIRR - NEBERHUHEATEHE - Wi
FEESARSHEETE -

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Tt T
(c) Otheritems (c) HttiEHE
Gross rental income from investment KREYENHAS KA
properties BEE (301,316) (434,184)
Less: Direct outgoings W BEE W 89,166 92,367
(212,150) (341,817)
Auditor’s remuneration ZERN S
— audit services — ZER 820 820
— tax services — B ARTS 63 63
— other services — HAbARTS 201 201
Depreciation charge nEEHR 4,213 4,254
Impairment losses on accounts receivable FEU AR FORE S 18
(note 14(b)) (P 5E14(0)) 2,278 10,834
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

7 Directors’ Emoluments 7 EEM=
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong B EBCRA F RN Y 383(1) 15 M« A 7 (]
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BESNERER)RONE2F R EEN S
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: AT
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2R BINEHE
Eswe REYAR BETEAL it b
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T T T
Executive Directors HITES
Cheong Hooi Hong fEIEIE 50 1,732 700 - 2,482
Cheong Kheng Lim SBIRPR 50 2,473* 700 = 3,223
Cheong Keng Hooi sEAmE 50 2,998 300 - 3,348
Cheong Sim Lam feede] 50 1,979 300 - 2,329
Cheong Chong Ling $BIEIS 50 1,529¢ 120 24 1,723
Independent B EHAT

Non-executive Directors EIE

Chow Wan Hoi, Paul EEG 170 - = = 170
Wong Yiu Tak ey 170 — — - 170
Lee Chung EUN 170 - - - 170

760 10,711 2,120 24 13,615
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

7 Directors’ Emoluments (continued) 7 EEMEw
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2021
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e o EEL RIRETE
E50E  KEDNE BRETEAT R et
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $'000
Tt T+ Tt Tt Tt
Executive Directors HITES
Cheong Hooi Hong SEIEIE 50 1,512 700 — 2,262
Cheong Kheng Lim SBIRM 50 2,379* 700 — 3,129
Cheong Keng Hooi SEAMEE 50 1,604 300 — 1,954
Cheong Sim Lam fEiede] 50 1,748 300 — 2,008
Cheong Chong Ling fEailbg 50 1,722¢ 120 24 1,916
Independent BT

Non-executive Directors &%

Chow Wan Hoi, Paul BES 170 — _ _ 170
Wong Yiu Tak =IRE 170 — — _ 170
Lee Chung L 170 - - - 170
760 8,965 2,120 24 11,869
* The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential property * EREREREREMLEREEEMENE
to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim with an estimated rental value of approximately A - AEEER 41,293,000 (== —4F ¢
$1,293,000 (2021: $1,485,000). 1,485,0007T) °
# The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential property # EHRBEAaEREBE/ NAREEEMENE
to Miss Cheong Chong Ling with an estimated rental value of approximately A - AEEER 21,281,000 (== —F -
$1,281,000 (2021: $1,485,000). 1,485,0007T) °

119 Annual Report 2021-2022 &3}
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

8

Associated International Hotels Limited S8%EEEEG R A &

Income Tax

Individuals with Highest Emoluments 8
The five highest paid individuals for 2022 and 2021 are all directors of

the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income represents:

=1

BY

e AL
—F-—FR-F-—FEERNESHE

=

MATHEARRRNES - HMEE3HR
BIFE7 ©

Fr
(@)

=

=y

REBRRREMEEBARAN
THFRIEHIES

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
F FT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax AEBIE — HENBH
Provision for the year NEERIRLERE 20,464 42,478
Over-provision in respect of prior years A FEEES BT (37) @7
20,427 42,441
Deferred tax ELERE
Origination and reversal of temporary iy = B E A ()
differences 8,496 8,279
28,923 50,720

The provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%

(2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year,

except for the Company which is a qualifying corporation under

the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For the Company, the first

$2,000,000 of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the

remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision

for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the Company was calculated at the

same basis in 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

9 Income Tax (Gontinued) 9 MEH@
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) PSRN Hz AR ETE
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: e EE NS ER
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Loss before taxation B A E 1B (1,091,839) (1,474,784)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, RREBT R ER TR
calculated at applicable tax rates RN EERE (180,318) (243,504)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR B IR & 209,507 295,529
Tax effect of non-taxable income BREABKGHNRIBLE (229) (1,268)
Over-provision in prior years AR EEERE (37) 37)
Actual tax expense ERHIES N 28,923 50,720
(c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement (€) #rERIBEARILER PR AN HA P
of financial position represents: BBA
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax NEEEBNEGTLERS
for the year 20,464 42,478
Provisional Profits Tax paid BT E RS (31,838) (50,364)
Current tax recoverable N ER R FT S AR (11,374) (7,886)
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

9 Income Tax (continued) 9 MmMiEHw@
(d) Deferred tax liabilities recognised: d) SEFELEMIEEE :
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the B E MBARAREROELETIES
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements BEMAEKE D MAFEEEHT ¢

during the year are as follows:

Depreciation

allowances

in excess of

the related
depreciation Tax loss Total

BB

HERITERN
HERBE REE HBEE
$°000 $°000 $°000
Fx Fr T

Deferred tax arising from: KETHEEN
BEAEFIA :

At 1 April 2020 R2020F4A1H 87,748 - 87,748
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  fE#BzEH K% (5t A) 8,366 87) 8,279
At 31 March 2021 R202143/F31H 96,114 @87) 96,027
At 1 April 2021 7R2021F4A31H 96,114 (87) 96,027
Charged to profit or loss fEEmP IR 8,452 44 8,496
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H 104,566 (43) 104,523
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

10 Dividends

(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the year

10 IRE

(@ ANFEEMQTEZEERRRKRE

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid of BEIR K S B RS B =R
$0.19 per share (2021: $0.25 per share) 0.1978(20214F : #h%0.257T) 68,400 90,000
Final dividend proposed after the end of R E MR ER R ES
the reporting period of $0.21 per share PIRAR AL B F0.217T
(2021: $0.19 per share) (20214 : ®H%0.197T) 75,600 68,400
144,000 158,400

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting

period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the previous
financial year, approved and paid during the
year

RIRE MR 4 B IRERE D IRH R EIR
BRAERERRREREAREBE -

(b) BRE-—FHRFERNLAE
HmRR - WRARFERAER X
RIS

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Frx T
Final dividend in respect of the previous BR E—UHBFE - TR
financial year, approved and paid REEHOE R T AE
during the year, of $0.19 per share REAR B EAR0.197T
(2021: $0.25 per share) (20214 :+ §%0.257T) 68,400 90,000

11 Loss Per Share — Basic and Diluted
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of $1,120,762,000 (2021:
$1,525,504,000) and 360,000,000 (2021: 360,000,000) ordinary shares
in issue during the year. There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares

in existence in 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% # % /x )

12 Fixed Assets

@

12 BEEEE

(@)
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
RENE Hitt% - BERRE
Properties
held for
leasing and
capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
HER
BEWE Hitnh% Hth&EE Pt ok
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Tr Tr T Tr
Cost or valuation: RAREE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4A1H 10,408,610 100,464 36,987 137,451 10,546,061
Additions ®E 1,313 - 851 851 2,164
Disposals RE - - (99) (99) (©9)
Fair value adjustments NREEAE (1,266,543) - - - (1,266,543)
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 9,143,380 100,464 37,739 138,203 9,281,583
Representing: RE:
Cost B AR - 100,464 37,739 138,203 138,203
Valuation — 2022 fhfE — 20224 9,143,380 - - - 9,143,380
9,143,380 100,464 37,739 138,203 9,281,583
Accumulated depreciation: RHRE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 418 - 44,747 34,611 79,358 79,358
Charge for the year KEETE - 3,335 878 4,213 4,213
Written back on disposals BERER - = (93) (93) (93)
At 31 March 2022 720223 A31H - 48,082 35,396 83,478 83,478
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2022 720223 A31H 9,143,380 52,382 2,343 54,725 9,198,105
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(@)

(Continued)

12 BlEEE@)
(@ @

Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
REWH HiE - BE&H
Properties
held for
leasing and
capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
MER
AR
EEME H Ay HinEE Nt k]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T
Cost or valuation: RAREE
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4A1H 12,195,550 100,464 36,519 136,983 12,332,533
Additions wE 1,032 - 670 670 1,702
Disposals BE - - (202) (202) (202)
Fair value adjustments NREEAE (1,787,972) - - - (1,787,972
At 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 10,408,610 100,464 36,987 137,451 10,546,061
Representing: RE:
Cost B AR - 100,464 36,987 137,451 137,451
Valuation — 2021 f&{E — 20214 10,408,610 - - — 10,408,610
10,408,610 100,464 36,987 137,451 10,546,061
Accumulated depreciation: RIE .
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4H1H - 41,304 33,992 75,296 75,296
Charge for the year REEWE - 3,443 811 4,254 4,254
Written back on disposals edeE] - - (192) (192) (192)
At 31 March 2021 R20219F3A31H - 44,747 34,611 79,358 79,358
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 10,408,610 55,717 2,376 58,093 10,466,703
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12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment

properties

At 31 March 2022, investment properties comprise iSQUARE
(excluding an office on 9th Floor), certain units of Good Luck
Industrial Building and a floor of Euro Trade Centre. Other
properties comprise an office on 9th Floor of ISQUARE, certain
units of an industrial property and two residential properties in

Hong Kong.

(i) Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
None of the Group’s investment properties measured at fair
value are categorised into Level 1 and Level 2 valuations.

The investment properties which are categorised into Level

12 EEEE @)
REVEN A REBETEZ @

(b)

NABEBR(E)

REBAEAR AR EEFEN
REMEGEEE - EANREZ
BAfhE - HBEREF=ERMA

3 valuations are analysed as below: BENREMEITAT -
2022 2021
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Recurring fair value measurement REEEERTTEN
AREE
Investment properties categorised into WHEEEE=-ERHEN
Level 3 valuations: REME
— Commercial properties in Hong Kong ~ — IR BB IR % 9,101,600 10,356,600
— Industrial properties in Hong Kong — I REB I EDE 41,780 52,010
9,143,380 10,408,610
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there REBEEZT__FRZT=—F

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of

the reporting period in which they occur.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Associated International Hotels Limited S8%EEEEG R A &

Valuation process

The investment properties in Hong Kong were revalued
at 31 March 2022 by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers who
have among their staff Fellows of The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of properties being valued, on a market value
basis. Management has discussion with the valuers on
the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting

date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of investment properties was determined
using income capitalisation approach which capitalised the
net rental income of the properties and taking into account
the occupancy rate and reversionary income potential
of properties after the expiry of the current leases. The

significant unobservable inputs are set out below:

12 BlEEE@)
REVEMN D REBEFE @)

(b)

(i)

(i)

HERF
R-E-_—F=A=+—H &
REBNREME T H —RB
BEMGERM — BEHTEENG
ERERAR(EAEIHTABS
BRAEMEGERGE2ER
BEWEM 2 MEMELE R
[BAERI BT ENAE R 2 AR ) T
BiE - EFRDHAERNMEZTE
AR - BEED BHEM
TE & (B BAFIF [E 35 B BRE 1T
HENRRFER -

F_ERAR(EEFTENER
AEBERBEREEAMOE - B
EFHESRAERNL - XEE
AmEHERREREFEOER
BREHORHEE WAREERE
NEERENENAAEE &
RETAIBRB A BT ¢

Range of capitalisation rate Range of occupancy rate
ERbLENEE HAZNEE
Investment properties RENE 2022 2021 2022 2021
Commercial propertiesinHong Kong [T BBHIEENE 250% —5.00%  2.27% —5.00%  73.5% — 100% 0% — 76.7%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong MREBNTENE 4.00% 4.00% 100% 0%

The fair value measurement of investment properties is
positively correlated to the occupancy rate and negatively

correlated to the capitalisation rate.
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12 Fixed Assets (continued)
Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

12 BlEEE@)

(b)

(i)

REVEN QI AEETE@

E=ERARBESENER

(Continued) (%)
The movements during the year in the balance of these RKEERNE=BHRALBELES
Level 3 fair value measurement are as follows: HyEEE T -
Commercial Industrial
properties properties
in Hong Kong in Hong Kong
NREBL NLRAEBL
$°000 $°000
Frx T
At 1 April 2020 720204 A1H 12,138,200 57,350
Additions e 1,032 —
Fair value adjustments NAEEFE (1,782,632) (5,340)
At 31 March 2021 202143 H31H 10,356,600 52,010
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 /811 10,356,600 52,010
Additions BE 1,313 -
Fair value adjustments NABEAR (1,256,313) (10,230)
At 31 March 2022 720223 A31H 9,101,600 41,780

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised

in the line item “valuation losses on investment properties”

on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income. All the valuation

changes recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from

the properties held at the end of the reporting period. The

valuation changes will only affect the accounting profit or

loss but not the cash flows of the Group.
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12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(©

12 BlEEE@)

The analysis of net book value of properties is (c) VIHEREFEMNDSWNUT :
as follows:
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
T Tt
In Hong Kong, with remaining L - Fsg
lease term of: MEMR
— not less than 50 years — T DRRB0F 130,776 151,997
— less than 50 years but — DHRB0FE
not less than 10 years P10 9,064,986 10,312,330
9,195,762 10,464,327
Other assets comprise furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor (d) EmEEaFEERM 8 RZHERA
vehicles. o
The Group leases out investment properties under operating (e) FmEFEUNSLHEERHIREDE - B

leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to ten years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease payment
terms that are based on the revenue of tenants. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate recognised
as income in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2022
were $6,860,000 (2021: $7,916,000).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the

Group in future periods as follows:

HESVAR—FE2+F  WAFER
BUEIERBER - BRATA GRS
EHEE - & THAERERASKRAG
] S E MR HBGR o TEUAR
feBk L R AT EAENREREES
T —_F-A=t+—RHLEFERES
R RER AW A 56,860,000 ( ZF=—
£ :7,916,0007T) °

REBRBENHRE B RS FE A FHER
REREEARRMBERENARITREE
fFRERMT

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
T FT
Within 1 year 1FR 224,370 321,351
After 1 year but within 2 years 118 E2F K 154,987 141,655
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F £ H3F N 84,558 80,362
After 3 years but within 4 years 3F&EAFR 43,061 56,547
After 4 years but within 5 years AF1&ESFRN 40,236 41,884
After 5 years 5F1& 100,383 140,618
647,595 782,417
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12 Fixed Assets (continued)
() Pledge of assets
At the end of the reporting period, fixed assets with carrying value
of $9,023,206,000 (2021: $10,260,320,000) were pledged to

secure the bank loan (see note 20).

13 Subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

12 EEEE®)
(H EEEH
RMEBRER - RITERRUE
[ {H £9,023,206,0007T( ZF = — £ :
10,260,320,0007T ) &) &l 7E & ZE 1E R 1K
(280 E20) -

13 B A
TRINSEAEBIIEHNBARFE - B 2E
ERREN  FTRAERRMNHEAEER -

Place of

incorporation Particulars of issued

Name of company and operation  and paid up capital

MK BRTRAR

Proportion of

ownership

interest held

by the Company  Principal activity
AR RRFEH

NRER Rew RAFE b RERR Lol TEEY
Associated International Resorts Limited Hong Kong $20 divided into 2 shares 100% Inactive

B 2075 Rl R n TIERE
Diamond Town Limited Hong Kong $200,000 divided into 200,000 shares 100% Property investment
REERANA B 200,0007T43 £200,0008% # {7 MERE
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14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and

14 EWERFX  S]ERFEMNAR

Prepayments

2022 2021

$°000 $'000

T Tt

Accounts receivable FEUTAR X 143,242 190,317
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 14(b)) B EEEEZEE (BT 14(0)) (725) (8,853)
142,517 181,464

Deposits and prepayments HENSEEN 6,587 6,850
149,104 188,314

(@ Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net of allowance for

credit losses) which was included in accounts receivable, deposits

and prepayments as of the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

AR AT
RIFEMRRER - IFERKERR -
T8 REMRA N ERER(EMBRIE
BBRER) NERITHT ;

2022 2021

$000 $’000

T Tt

Current (Note) REEA(RE) 107,145 142,364

Less than 1 month past due EER DR E A 12,020 11,608

1 to 3 months past due EER1 = 3ME A 14,131 17,759
More than 3 months but o BB B3R A2

less than 12 months past due L1218 A 7,577 9,334

More than 12 months past due EERERE12(8 A 1,644 399

Amounts past due [l 35,372 39,100

142,517 181,464

Note: The amount includes the receivable for lease incentives of
$104,929,000 (2021: $142,186,000) which is not past due. The
movement in the said receivable during the year will only affect

the accounting revenue but not the contractual cash flows of the

Group.

Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and 10 to

14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be charged.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note

23(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 BWERF Sl RFENSR@
Prepayments (continued)
(b) Impairment of accounts receivable (b) FEWERFURIE
The movement in the specific allowance for credit losses during AKEENEZEEBFEEBESNT -

the year is as follows:

2022 2021

$°000 $'000

Fr T

At 1 April 2021/2020 722021/2020%F4A1H 8,853 2,140

Impairment losses recognised (note 6(c)) BRI EEE (FFE6(c) 2,278 10,834

Uncollectible amounts written off ERSE AT e 25 (10,406) (4,121)

At 31 March M3HA31H 725 8,853

15 Pledged Bank Deposits 15 BIEHRITER

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, bank deposits were pledged to a KRB —_FR-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H"
designated bank to secure the bank loan (see note 20). RITFEREREER - UER—KEERT

HIRITER (2R ME20)

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents 16 RERREEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a BRErRRSEEVERE

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Fx Tz

Deposits with banks RITE BTN 421,800 353,457

Cash at bank and in hand RITFER RS 18,964 20,240

440,764 373,697
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16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 BERIRELEEW @)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) METHRMEENEGEZY
financing activities: B :
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRV AEERETHAEEANERE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. e EhREReMIFRSED - 7@
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which ﬁ;‘é@)ﬁﬁ?iﬁ’gﬁg EZEENREESR
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the B AR ERERE D ERERE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing Eﬁﬁ;\,mizﬁ%ﬁ‘\jﬁﬂﬁyéﬁ A e
activities.
Government
lease
Bank loan premiums Interest
— secured payable payables Total
RITER PEAS
— HiEH BT A8 A FIE i
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Frx T Fr
(Note 20) (Note 21)

(FF5E20) (FftzE21)

At 1 April 2021 A2021F481H 200,000 1,722 128 201,850
Changes from financing RERSRELEH :

cash flows:
Payment for government TR HE

lease premiums payable - (73) = (73)
Interest paid on government B IRATHE RS

lease premiums payable - - (86) (86)
Interest paid on bank loan EARITERFE - = (1,794) (1,794)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A SR A — — (970) (970)

Total changes from financing BB IR &M=L E

cash flows Fks) - (73) (2,850) (2,923)
Other changes: Hih#g g :
Interest on bank loan RITETA B = = 1,928 1,928
Other borrowing costs H A G FRAAR — - 970 970
Interest on government JRE AT IR T 0, B ) B

lease premiums payable - - 83 83
Total other changes H b2 Eh a5 - - 2,981 2,981
At 31 March 2022 A2022%3H31H 200,000 1,649 259 201,908
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16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 RWERRESEEY @
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEZTHMEENEEBZY
financing activities: (Continued) BR @)
Government
lease
Bank loan premiums Interest

— secured payable payables Total
RITER FERS

— HiEH BT (8 FEASTHE FGE

$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000

T+t T T T
(Note 20) (Note 21)

(FF5E20) (FfftzE21)

At 1 April 2020 20204 R81H 200,000 1,791 142 201,933
Changes from financing RERSRELEH :

cash flows:
Payment for government TSR AT HAE

lease premiums payable — 69) - (69)
Interest paid on government B IRATHE RS

lease premiums payable — - (90) (90)
Interest paid on bank loan BRHERITEZFE — - (2,720) (2,720)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A S KA A — - (251) (2571)
Total changes from financing R EIR &M= E

cash flows #BE - (69) (3,061) (3,130)
Other changes: Hih# s :
Interest on bank loan SRITERFE - — 2,710 2,710
Other borrowing costs H A FRAAR — - 250 250
Interest on government JRE AT IR T 0B )

lease premiums payable — — 87 87
Total other changes HEe)iazs - — 3,047 3,047
At 31 March 2021 R202163H31H 200,000 1,722 128 201,850
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17 Other Payables and Accruals 17 HittENRRESTER
All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within FrEEMmENRAEABERETR —FRNE
one year. F o
18 Deposits Received 18 EWET&
All of the deposits received are expected to be settled within one year B 768,976,000 (=& =——4F : 75,927,000
except for $68,976,000 (2021: $75,927,000) which is expected to be UG & TETR BB —FREMNIN - FTEE
settled after more than one year. WETE TR —F B -
19 Provision for Long Service Payments 19 REIRBES%E®E
$°000
Fr
At 1 April 2021 HK2021F4/81H 1,505
Provision made for the year NEGRTRERE 143
At 31 March 2022 202243 H31H 1,648

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five
years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that is
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not

set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.
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20 Bank Loan — Secured 20 RITER — BIEH

At 31 March 2022, the bank loan was repayable as follows:

R-ZBE-_—F=A=+—H RITEFNE
FHET

2022 2021
$°000 $'000

T Tt

Within 1 year 1R - 200,000
After 1 year but within 2 years 1618 E2F K — —
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F B B5F A 200,000 —
200,000 —

200,000 200,000

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement with
a bank for banking facilities of up to $300,000,000. Following the first
supplemental agreement for extension of the facilities to 8 October 2021,
the Company entered into the second supplemental agreement with the
bank on 23 August 2021 for extension of the facilities for three years
to 8 October 2024. The Company has an option to further extend the
facilities for two additional years to 8 October 2026, subject to, among
other things, the agreement of the lending bank. The banking facilities
were secured by a debenture incorporating a first fixed legal charge over
certain fixed assets (see note 12(f)) and a first floating charge over certain
bank deposits (see note 15). At 31 March 2022, the outstanding bank
loan was $200,000,000 (2021: $200,000,000).

The Company’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Company’s consolidated statement
of financial position ratios and maintenance of capital at certain required
levels. If the Company were to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. The Company regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been

breached.
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21 Government Lease Premiums Payable 21 ENBUSHE
At 31 March 2022, the government lease premiums payable was RZBE-Z_F=A=+—0H - ENBFFHE
repayable as follows: REFREAAT -
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Within 1 year (amount included in 1FA(BIEEEMENR
other payables and accruals) MIESFERR) 77 73
After 1 year but within 2 years 118 B2F R 80 7
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F £ {H3F A 84 80
After 3 years but within 4 years SFERBIFR 89 84
After 4 years but within 5 years AF1Z(E5F A 93 89
After 5 years 5F1& 1,226 1,319
1,572 1,649
1,649 1,722
Interest on government lease premiums payable is chargeable at a fixed ERBAERNEREREERTE AR ESF
rate of 5% (2021: 5%) per annum on the outstanding balance. FEEE(ZE-—%F : 5F):tE o
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22 BEXRKG#HE
() RERARIH B
AREBLARA e F &R B 526 5 By HAAT)
ERHAR SRR BR - FI SR A R
R o NRARFE Y2 FALHEEBIER
MR ES D BN IB ST

22 Capital and Reserves
(@ Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company PiN/NC
Share Revaluation Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
(L& EftRE REGER e
$°000 $000 $000 $°000
T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2020 20204 B1 B K& &R 360,000 1,761,266 10,035,998 12,157,264
Loss and total comprehensive REFEBBEEZEBA
income for the year kS - — (1,624,176) (1,624,176)
Dividends approved in respect of B F—BIEEIES
the previous financial year [i% 8 — — (90,000) (90,000)
Dividends declared in respect of ~ BRAFBEEEIRN
the current financial year [i% 8 — — (90,000) (90,000)
Balance at 31 March 2021 and ~ 2021%3831HE
1 April 2021 20214 A1 B &k 360,000 1,761,266 8,331,822 10,453,088
Loss and total comprehensive RNEEBEREHEBA
income for the year ikl - - (1,100,267) (1,100,267)
Dividends approved in respect of B F—BIBEEIE
the previous financial year 8 = - (68,400) (68,400)
Dividends declared in respect of BRI HEE SR
the current financial year ds - - (68,400) (68,400)
Balance at 31 March 2022 R2022463 A31 B Y& R 360,000 1,761,266 7,094,755 9,216,021
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22 Capital and Reserves (continued) 22 BEAXRRHE @
(b) Share capital (b) B
2022 2021
Number of shares $°000 Number of shares $'000
BOEE F L 4E] Tt
Issued and fully paid: BITRER
Ordinary shares LB 360,000,000 360,000 360,000,000 360,000
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies BB EBECR BUERIYE 1351 - ARAQF]
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company have no nominal B @A A o
value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as BRI A A G RWETE S R A AR
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share B ﬂﬂ&$@ﬁjj§@t%ﬁ—%ﬂﬁ
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with DI —Z - BN AR RN RN FISREE © AT
regard to the Company’s residual assets. BT Hxﬁ;ﬁ [R5 o
(c) Nature and purpose of revaluation reserve () EfRFBNMENAR
The revaluation reserve represents hotel properties revaluation BlhHEREANTEFECERNEEY
surpluses and other properties revaluation surplus recognised in EEGHBEGNEMYESGHRSG - B
prior years. The hotel has been redeveloped into ISQUARE. Upon EEEEABKRES - RENEEERE
the retirement or disposal of the properties, any related revaluation MER  TEENEGREGEHERS
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained EEE ARBGEA o HEEER T DK
earnings. The reserve is non-distributable. 7 o
(d) Distributability of reserves d) At IREE

Associated International Hotels Limited S8%EEEEG R A &

At 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was $1,897,630,000 (2021: $1,888,954,000). After
the end of the reporting period, the Directors proposed a final
dividend of $0.21 per share (2021: $0.19 per share), amounting to
$75,600,000 (2021: $68,400,000) (note 10). This dividend has not

been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
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22 Capital and Reserves (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by leasing properties and pricing
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher member returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy remained

unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as total bank loan over total equity
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As
at 31 March 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was 2.1% (2021:
1.9%) with bank deposits and cash exceeding total bank loan of
$244,181,000 (2021: $195,498,000).
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REEREERGERE - s - AEEH
REERNABLEARITEREER
AR E IS AR R T R i e 4B 58 o
R-ZE-_—_F=A=+—08  £5£E
WEREELRA21%(ZT-—F
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195,498,0007T) °
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the

normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management

policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts
receivable, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to this

credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound
credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit

risk.

In respect of accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and 10 to
14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be charged.
Legal action will be taken against past due debtors whenever
the situation is appropriate. The Group obtains deposits from
customers (see note 18) as collateral over accounts receivable
to cover potential exposure to credit risk. At 31 March 2022 and
2021, the expected credit losses for accounts receivable were

measured and loss allowance was provided.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

(Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any
collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the statement of financial position after deducting
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide any

guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are set

out in note 14.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and an
adequate amount of committed banking facilities to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay:
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values B RREER A EE®
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) b) RBEESREMEE
2022

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

ANRFRRERE

More than More than

Within 1yearbut  2years but

1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1ERE EBIE Jiip Pk
BERAN  BOR2F  BORSE BB5E ok REE
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i r i i i
Other payables and accruals HitERT R EAER 44,530 - - - 44,530 44,511
Depostts received Euﬁzﬂﬁ 61,697 28,036 28,722 12,218 130,673 130,673
Bank loan — secured 3 — BER 2,307 2,313 201,201 - 205,821 200,000
Government lease premiums payable %ﬁﬂ(ﬁ 18 = 159 477 1,588 2,204 1,572
108,534 30,508 230,400 13,806 383,248 376,756

2021

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

AOATREERE

More than More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but

1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1R, BBIF HiBoF
RERAR  ELRF  (BORSE HRiB6E &% FHfE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Tr T r T T
Other payables and accruals HitEN R R e ER 30,508 - - - 30,508 30,488
Deposits received BlEE 75,406 48,450 15,259 12,218 151,333 151,333
Bank loan — secured RTER—BHA 200,967 - - - 200,967 200,000
Govemnment lease premiums payable  FENEF (B - 159 417 1,747 2,383 1,649
306,881 48,609 15,736 13,965 385,191 383470
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values 23 B EBEER A LS EE @)

(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk ) F=EEp
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loan. AEFNNRER T ERGIHFITER -
The bank loan borrowed at variable rates expose the Group to FERIRITEREAEEEEAZIESR
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as SNXREAR -  AEBEIEEERAF X
monitored by management is set out in (i) below. BESL LTS () A7t o
() Interest rate profile ()  FI=BER
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TREVINRE AR LB AR E
Group’s borrowings with significant interest rate risk BFETEREEFERNERBRAOE
exposure at the end of the reporting period: AR, -

2022 2021
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERAI=E $’000 HERA= $°000
% T % T
Fixed rate borrowings: EEEN
Government lease FETERATHE(E
premiums payable 5.00 1,649 5.00 1,722
Variable rate borrowings:  EE{&3K :
Bank loan — secured IRITER — BHEA 1.15 200,000 0.93 200,000
Total 4% 201,649 201,722
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 225 (2021: 30) basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss after tax and
decreased/increased the retained profits by approximately

$3,758,000 (2021: $501,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period. In respect
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group
at the end of the reporting period, the impact on the
Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same

basis for 2021.

Currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as

substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

24 Employee Retirement Benefits 24 EERAKER

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administrated by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000. In addition to
the mandatory contribution, the Group makes voluntary contribution at
5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income in excess of $30,000,
subject to a maximum monthly income of $40,000. Mandatory
contributions to the plan vest immediately. Prior to 1 July 2019, voluntary
contributions to the plan vested at the time the employees reached
the retirement range, subject to certain conditions. With effect from
1 July 2019, the voluntary contributions to the plan vest on the scale
based on the years of service of the employees until full vesting after
completing 10 years of service, subject to certain conditions. The staff
costs in respect of staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property
Management Limited for building and property management of iSQUARE
are reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

During the year, no forfeited contributions (2021: Nil) was utilised to
reduce the contributions payable for the year. No unutilised forfeited
contributions had yet to be applied by the Group at 31 March 2022 and
2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

—_—H#=A=t+t—H%&

25 Company-level Statement of Financial

Position at 31 March 2022

25 R=
/L\\_

TE] A

TH A BA RS AR L R

2022 2021
Note $°000 $'000
BoaE Tt T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets EE&E
— Investment properties — B 9,016,180 10,260,610
— Other properties, plant and equipment  — E % « E K& iE 54,725 58,093
9,070,905 10,318,703
Interest in subsidiaries RETB R B MR 31,091 31,084
9,101,996 10,349,787
Current assets RBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and FERERR » 5] &
prepayments TERR 148,763 188,287
Current tax recoverable AR FT SRR 11,374 7,886
Pledged bank deposits BRBIRITIER 3,417 21,801
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 439,393 373,433
602,947 591,407
Current liabilities REBaE
Other payables and accruals HEMEMASR R ERTER 44,474 30,460
Deposits received BETE 129,834 151,333
Provision for long service payments REIRG e EE 1,648 1,605
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAT BT A B ZRIE 7,279 7,479
Bank loan — secured IRITEN — BIRAE — 200,000
183,235 390,777
Net current assets RBEEFE 419,712 200,630
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRABERE 9,521,708 10,550,417
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loan — secured IRITENR — HEH 200,000 -
Government lease premiums payable FETBURH B 1,572 1,649
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFRIEEE 104,115 95,680
305,687 97,329
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,216,021 10,453,088
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA & ¥ %l /R )

25 Company-level Statement of Financial 25 RZE-_—_F=H=+—H%E
Position at 31 March 2022 (continued) N B FE H B I AR R 3% ()
2022 2021
Note $°000 $'000
BiaE Fr T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERRf#E 22
Share capital &N 22(b) 360,000 360,000
Reserves &1 8,856,021 10,093,088
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 9,216,021 10,453,088
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June SFEeN T - —FRNA-TNLBZETHF
2022. FIEEH o
Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim - )
Director Director EEE SEIEAR

26 Immediate Parent and Ultimate Controlling 26 HESNRMRAIZES

Party

At 31 March 2022, the Directors consider the immediate parent and EFeRs AEBR-_ZE-__—_F=A
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Tian Teck Land Limited =+ —HHEBES QAR REREESTSRA
and Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited respectively, both of KEMWEABRARIMRXEAR AT MEA
which are incorporated in Hong Kong. The immediate parent produces THEEATMKY - BEES AT @A
financial statements available for public use and the ultimate controlling HARMBEHRE  SEIEESDEERE
party does not produce financial statements available for public use. A AR ISEHRE o
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Notes to the Financial Statements B fiR& Kzt
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

27 Possible Impact of Amendments,

New Standards and Interpretations Issued

But Not Yet Effective for the Year Ended

31 March 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and which have not been

adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the

following which may be relevant to the Group.

27

EEAEREEZE-_ZT -
=A==+ —HLEFEEKRES
HIEE] ~ FTZERI R 2 IE R O] 68
=E
BEAMBHRRB LAY B5eHLe
BEEAREBE_ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLHF
EMRER  TRBEAPBRREANS
TS AR — LR o BB B BET
5| AT g A E M A RIMIEE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
EUTESR 2%
RRH S HBRER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the conceptual framework

(BAMBRELERDERNER 2 EHSELR]

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use

(BAGHERDFRNERT X - BE KRR - (FRERZATH TSR]

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous contracts — Cost of fulfilling a contract

(BAGHERDESTHRNERBIRMEEH — BITA KR

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle
(BB IR E2ERI)2018F E 20205 1A H M) F 5 Hire

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

(BAGHERDEVGRNERRBIIFRBABENDE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies

(BAGHERDFVRNER] M(BAMBREEADEHFREL2FNET [ S ERRNOITE]

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

(BAEEGHERDESGRNER] SFtfhaTER]

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

1 January 2022
202241 H1H

1 January 2022
202241 H1H

1 January 2022
202241 H1H

1 January 2022
202241 H1H

1 January 2023
202341 H1H

1 January 2023
202341 H1H

1 January 2023
202341 H1H

1 January 2023

(EBAGFHERDE12GMIEETME - X FMEENEE R B BB BArRENIE] 2023%1H1H
The adoption of these amendments is unlikely to have a significant RNELASTTEH AR A M HRERBRERT

impact on the consolidated financial statements. ZHATREETK ©
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Five Year Financial Summary
T FHMEHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 24 7% ¥ % 7R )
Results e
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
$000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
FIT FT FIT T Fr
Revenue 'ON 632,541 610,587 588,560 434,184 301,316
Profit/(loss) from operations BREWEME
after valuation changes in BEHENKLE
investment properties BEL () 246,611 233,750 (829,252)  (1,471,737)  (1,088,858)
Finance costs REE R (3,140) (4,855) (6,532) (3,047) (2,981)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB AER S (ER) 243,471 228,895 (835,784)  (1,474,784)  (1,091,839)
Income tax IZiECE (84,153) (80,410) (77,080) (50,720) (28,923)
Profit/(loss) for the year ATERBER
attributable to equity EEEEE
shareholders of the Company A (EA) 159,318 148,485 (912,864)  (1,525,504)  (1,120,762)
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Five Year Financial Summary 15 iSHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 3% # 51| ;R )

Assets and Liabilities EEREE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
$000 $'000 $000 $000 $°000
T T T T Fr
Fixed assets EBE 13,832,557 13,564,010 12,257,237 10,466,703 9,198,105
Net current assets MEEEFE 314,641 318,777 315,136 208,372 427,827
14,147,198 13,882,787 12,572,373 10,675,075 9,625,932
Bank loan — secured RITER — BEH (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) — (200,000)
Government lease premiums payable  FE{F BT (B (1,857) (1,791) (1,722) (1,649) (1,572)
Lease liabilities HERE (17) - - - -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIEAE (70,042) (78,429 (87,748) (96,027) (104,523)
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,875,282 13,602,567 12,282,903 10,577,399 9,319,837
Share capital N 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000
Reserves i 13,615,282 13,242,567 11,922,903 10,217,399 8,959,837
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 13,875,282 13,602,567 12,282,903 10,577,399 9,319,837
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